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1. MESSAGE FROM THE CEO 
 

Dear Partners, 

 

Your attention is drawn to the Connections Audited Financial Results Report  

Consult SA (hereinafter "Connections" or the "Issuer") and those compiled and 

unaudited for the group of companies controlled by Connections Consult SA 

(hereinafter "Connections Group" or the "Group"), relating to 2021. 

 

 

2021 was a landmark year in the history of Connections Group. Below we mention some of the most 

representative events: 

• private placement: 09.07.2021 
• access to the capital market: 22.09.2021 
• initiating transformational projects in the digital space, for large enterprise customers, with major impact 

on customer entities and millions of users: CEC and ANRE. 
• development of substantially differentiated software products starting in 2020 
• starting the process of establishing corporate governance policies 
• first acquisition: BRUSCH SERVICES SRL, followed by the integration of the company into the Group 

 

During the reporting period, the Group recorded a 24% increase in revenue compared to last year on the back 

of new projects undertaken within the software and RPA service lines, as well as an increase in the volume of 

consulting and outsourcing services offered to the Connections Group within Outsourcing Support Services 

SRL and Brusch Services SRL. Gross profit increased by 25% compared to 2020, and at the same time, during 

this period, we note a change in the structure of the main contributors to the Group's revenue structure. In this 

respect, the service line representing software development ("software development") has come to have a 

contribution share in revenue of 22%, and hyper-automation services (RPA) represent, at the end of 2021, 6% 

of total revenue.  

 

At the same time, the Group has exceeded the financial estimates for 2021 mentioned in the offer document 

of the private placement and in the one published at the time of the admission to trading in September 2021, 

both in terms of revenues (21% increase compared to estimates) and gross profit (9% increase compared to 

estimates). 
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Connections has therefore delivered on its commitment to its investors and continued to invest resources in 

developing service lines with potential to maximise the Group's net asset value. At the date of publication of 

the current financial report, Connections had already marked another important objective in the strategy 

presented to its investors at the time of the private placement, the creation of its US subsidiary, Connections 

Consult LLC. Together with the 10:1 stock split operation and an income and expense budget above the initial 

estimates as of July 2021 (at the time of the private placement), the Group is looking optimistically to 2022.  

 

In an extremely volatile market context, internationally and locally, with numerous and difficult to manage 

uncertainties: the war in Ukraine, inflation, potential food crisis, energy and supply chain crisis, so in a complex 

landscape, we maintain our energy, perseverance and positive outlook for 2022. The financial information 

presented in the Report aligns with Connections' announced business development strategy and is a testament 

to its ability and commitment to grow the value of its assets. 

 

In addition to the economic efficiency we want for 2022, we understand that the first year in the capital market 

brings various challenges that we have never encountered before, which we are learning from and which we 

want to turn into sources of continuous improvement. We are confident that we will be better at managing our 

relationship with investors, we understand their importance and essential role in our development and we are 

working on improved governance of our relationship with the capital market. We strongly believe in 

communicating with substance - when we have relevant and consistent topics to expose publicly - and we will 

never try to market half news stories just to speculate on a momentary share price increase. We're in the capital 

markets for the long haul and we want to play honestly and transparently, without "stealing the lead" 

unnecessarily. For this reason we will not publicly expose information - unaudited or unvalidated by 

clients/auditors.  

 

Thank you to the Connections team who have demonstrated that they are competent, energetic and capable 

of producing positive disruption in a local and global economic context unique in the last 80 years! Thank you 

to the investors who have chosen Connections - for your trust, patience and support! 

To conclude my message, I present below a summary of the objectives and their degree of achievement: 
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Bogdan Liviu Florea 

CEO CONNECTIONS NV 
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2. About Connections - a brief history 
 

Connections is a group of technology companies specializing in digital business transformation and includes 
several companies: Connections Consult SA, Connections Technologies SRL and Outsourcing Support Services 
SRL, Brusch Services SRL (from October 2021) as well as subsidiaries in Bulgaria and Serbia.  

Even though the 6 companies mentioned above, which form the Connections Group, have been established 

over time under the control of the same majority shareholder (with the exception of Brusch Services Srl), the 

current form of the Connections Group dates from 01.10.2021, when Connections Consult SA acquired 100% 

of Brusch Services Srl. The companies which, at the date of this report, are part of the Connections Group have 

also in the past acted on the basis of a common strategy and for this reason we consider it relevant for this 

report to present the activities, plans and strategy both from the perspective of the Issuer, Connections Consult 

S.A., and from the perspective of the Connections Group, controlled by the Issuer. To the extent relevant, the 

financial indicators included in this report have been presented not only individually (separately) at the level of 

the Issuer, Connections Consult S.A., but also compiled at the level of the CONNECTIONS Group, even though 

the Group, in its current form, was not incorporated in the 2020 financial period and was not required to prepare 

consolidated financial statements. We have chosen this presentation individually at Issuer level and 

consolidated at Group level in order to provide a comparable picture of how the Group's business is currently 

conducted. 

Connections Consult S.A., the Group's flagship company, was established in 2005 in Bucharest - Romania, as a 
limited liability company, and on 02.06.2021 it became a joint-stock company.  

In 2007, Connections Technology was founded, whose main activity was and still is to serve software 
development and implementation contracts and in 2015 the company Outsourcing Support Services was 
founded with the aim of providing staff resource contracting services. 

The Group offers clients the opportunity to improve their business processes and align with current digital 
trends, using technology tools to improve their KPIs and adapt to global market challenges. 

In 2016, Connections marked the first steps of regional expansion with the opening of offices in Belgrade - 
Serbia and Sofia - Bulgaria. At the same time, through sales representatives in Germany and Saudi Arabia, 
Connections Group expanded its customer portfolio targeting international markets. 
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Historical Connections 

 

 

2.1 Background, Industry Overview: Technology, Digitisation 
 

The tech industry is one of the most attractive sectors for investors, being a topical and booming field. 

Within the technology sector, investment in research and development is steadily increasing, with a constant focus 

on developing new technology-based goods and services.  

 

The Future of Work report published by Forrester in 2019 indicates a $30 billion volume figure for the enterprise 

hyper-automation market (incorporating services and licensing) in 2024, with a multi-year growth rate (CAGR) of 40%-

50% from 2017-2024. The potential of intelligent automation is vast and the growth is exponential. 
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The market for cloud support and services is also growing rapidly, evolving in sync with the democratisation of access 

to technology. Studies have shown a potential growth of up to USD 1,000 billion in 2026, at a CAGR of 18%1 . 

Both technology directions - hyper-automation and cloud support and services - are strategic verticals for 

Connections. 

 

 
 

 

2.2 CONNECTIONS: Mission, Vision, Values 
 

Connections is a group of innovative companies active in the area of digital transformation, founded in 2005 in 

Bucharest. The companies in the group offer clients the possibility to streamline their business processes, 

starting with their evaluation and re-design, and continuing with their implementation in digital format - using 

 

1 https://www.globenewswire.com/news-release/2021/01/22/2162789/0/en/Global-Cloud-Computing-Market-Size-
Share-Will-Reach-USD-1025-9-Billion-by-2026-Facts-Factors.html  
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software robots (UiPath), low-code platforms (e.g. Aurachain), software development and business process 

outsourcing.  

In 2016, the company opened offices in Belgrade and Sofia, starting a process of regional expansion. Currently, 

in addition to its headquarters, Connections operates two delivery centers in Bucharest and one each in 

Belgrade and Sofia. Sales representatives are initially working in Germany, Saudi Arabia and Serbia. 

The economic activity of Connections falls under CAEN code (rev. 2) 6202 - Information technology consultancy 

activities. 

Service delivery centres 

  
 

Sales representatives 

 

 

Belgrade, Serbia 

Sofia, Bulgaria 

Bucharest, Romania 

Munich, Germany 

Belgrade, Serbia 

Jeddah, Saudi Arabia 

Bucharest 1, Romania 

Bucharest 2, Romania 
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Mission and Vision: 

Transforming Business. Digitally. 

Connections' mission is to transform business and the public sector by digitizing customer business processes.  

In the Gartner study "Top Strategic Technology Trends for 2021", the authors present the pillars/themes for the 

coming years: "people centricity, location independence and resilient delivery". These three essential ingredients 

have been catalyzed by the global health crisis, and successful organizations are preparing to pivot and adapt 

intelligently by aligning themselves with these strategic directions. 

The study structures the puzzle pieces that make up the three broad directions, and for clarity and authenticity of 

message, the English names have been retained in both the Connections group's internal communication and in this 

document: 

• People centricity:  
o Internet of Behaviours 
o Total Experience 
o Privacy-enhancing Computation 

• Location independence: 
o Distributed Cloud 
o Anywhere Operations 
o Cybersecurity Mesh 

• Resilient delivery 
o Intelligent Composable Business 
o AI Engineering 
o Hyperautomation 

 

Five of the nine sub-directories above are included in the Connections strategy for the next five years, formulated 

before the recent health crisis: Total Experience, Anywhere Operations & Distributed Cloud, Intelligent Composable 

Business and Hyperautomation. 

Connections' vision for the next cycle, as we enter the post-pandemic era, is to create a regional leader in digital 

transformation for private companies and public entities. The firm's goal is to become its clients' preferred partner 

in designing and implementing digital strategies in intelligent hyper-automation and custom software applications 

that deliver business capabilities, not just digital solutions. 

The company's MTP (Massive Transformation Purpose), the generator of the company's business mission is, 

formulated in English: Transforming Business. Digitally. As a subsidiary of this motto, in the perspective of the next 
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3 years in which, through PNRR and governmental investments, the Romanian state proposes a wide process of 

digitalization of public administration, we can add a secondary MTP: Digitalize Romania.  

Value Connections: 

• KIS = Keep It Simple: simplify everything you can to achieve project goals. Any new idea is welcome and can 
bring a higher degree of simplification; 

• Assumption: everyone is responsible for what they do and, together, to the clients; no finger pointing, no 
fault hunting, but all the staff are responsible to the clients as a team; 

• Flexibility: problem solving. Even if not all the tools are available, solutions are found; 

• Trust: building a company based on trust between all participants: team, customers, authorities, community; 

• Connections delivers results, always.  

 

Strategic Objectives: 

• Technology - investment in technology partnerships; 

• Organisation - quick decisions, agile organisation, people as essential element; 

• Growth - organic growth, but also accelerating growth through acquisitions;  

• Footprint - quality services offered globally (US, EU, Middle East). 

 

Targets for 2024: 

o Increasing the global footprint to contracts representing approx. 40% of turnover in foreign markets; 

o Accelerated development of the technology service delivery center and its relocation by hiring team 
members from different regions and cultures, cumulating over 100 developers, architects and product 
engineers and specialists in infrastructure, testing and support functions; 

o Product development using Uipath platform software robots, data analytics, and machine learning. 

 

Advantages of the company: 

- Mature, mature team with relevant experience in the lines of business in which they operate; 
- Credentials - excellent references from internal and external clients, private companies; 
- Gold Partner UiPath - significant experience in RPA in the Romanian and foreign markets; 
- Aurachain partner - low-code platform for business process digitization enabling Connections Group to tackle 

complex digital transformation projects, for example in the banking sector.  
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The Connections Group has over the years achieved certifications at both company and individual level. 

1. Among the certifications obtained at the organization level are: 

• ISO 9001 (for IT services, document and data management, hardware sales) 
• ISO14001 
• ISO27001 
• UiPath - Gold Partner 
• Trace certified 

2. Certifications obtained by staff include: 

Authorised specialists - UiPath, Microsoft, Aurachain; 

Other certifications - MBA, ITIL, PMP, CBAP. 

2.3 SERVICES 
 

Connections offers its clients hyper-automation and software development services for the digital transformation of 

enterprise business processes. The company's experience in operating business process outsourcing (BPO) services 

generates extensive expertise in the digitization of shared service centers and enables the creation of synergies 

between verticals in the group. Some of these services have been standardised and are delivered as off-the-shelf 

products, flexible and adaptable to customer needs. 

The Connections Group is organised into four main business lines: 

1. Automation and digitization services (Digital Transformation) - analysis, re-engineering and management of 
business processes using digital tools. Hyper-automation of business processes using UiPath platform and 
technology tools - Robotic Process Automation, AI, Analytics, Image Recognition (OCR); 

2. Custom software development; 
3. Support IT infrastructure operations locally (on-premise) and in the cloud - outsourcing of IT processes 

in client organizations; 
4. Business Process Outsourcing (BPO), Business Process Outsourcing, with focus on Procure-2-Pay, Sales 

Reporting, Marketing Reporting, Project Management. 
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Detailed description of the services offered: 

 

1. Automation and digitization. Hyper-automation. Robotic Process Automation (RPA) 

 

Connections has been a UiPath Gold Partner since 2018 and has extensive experience in automating business 

processes in various industries. In addition to UiPath's assisted and unassisted software robot programming and 

deployment capabilities, the Connections team offers UiPath's extensive platform services using other recent tools: 

- Process identifier: Process Mining; 
- task identifier: Task Mining/Capture; 
- Recognising text from scanned documents: Document Understanding; 
- artificial intelligence capabilities: AI Fabric; 
- Business process analysis capabilities: Insights. 

 
Some business flows that can be automated are briefly outlined below. The full service flow offered under the hyper-

automation paradigm is shown in the following picture. 
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Connections is actively involved in the entire digitization process for clients, from the conception of the digital 

strategy, to the re-design and optimization of business processes, to the identification of automation opportunities, 

to the implementation of processes in a robotic version and ending with post-implementation support.   

2. Software Development 

The Custom Software Development ("CSD") vertical provides custom software solutions to customers where 

customer needs are specific enough that commercial-off-the-shelf (COTS), ready-made variants are not effective.  

Main attributes: 

• The customer is the main reference; 
• Solid understanding of business processes, trends and industry best practices; 
• End-to-end solutions; 
• Low maintenance costs. 

 

The Software Engineering methodology behind the developed projects is Agile Scrum: 

• Agile Scrum within full-stack project teams (generally consisting of 1 QA, 1 PO, 1-2 front-end developers, 5-
8 back-end / full-stack developers, 1 DevOps);  

• Agile SAFe for multiple teams working on the same overall solution (program increment planning, including 
innovation iterations);  
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• Teams split into microservices where necessary;  
• Architects of solutions for harmonising the interaction between individual teams;  
• Experts with knowledge in the client's specific business areas.  

Technologies, software and frameworks used: 

• Stiva Atlassian (JIRA / Confluence / Bitbucket) / Polarion; 
• Java, Spring, Docker, Maven, Gradle, Angular, Angular Material, Prime NG, Mysql / Postgresql / Oracle, 

Hibernate, Liquibase, Hazelcast, Apache Camel, Apache Kafka, Rabbitmq, Apache ActiveMq.  

 

The Group's mission to deliver solutions that transform customers' traditional business into a digital version with 

increased efficiency and benefits for business users and end customers is facilitated by the existence of this 

department. Numerous projects have included synergies between the RPA team and the Custom Software 

Development team, and building software modules as an extension of automation with UiPath has resulted in 

substantial cost savings for clients and outstanding operational efficiency. 

As examples of applications developed by the CSD team, we mention: 

Smart Fleet Solution - solution for fleet maintenance management of transport vehicles: control panel for all 

maintenance operations, service integration, fleet administrative data, fuel management and driver data. 

Smart Workshop - solution for the management of car services (financial, operational, logistical). 

 

3. IT infrastructure support services  

Connections operates the oldest line of business in the company's history - on-premises IT infrastructure support for 
large customers and plans to expand into the area of cloud services and consulting, with a focus on Amazon and 
Azure platforms.  

Types of services: 

• IT network security management; 
• Windows and Linux network server administration;  
• Multilingual (24/7) remote IT support (level 1 - user support and level 2 - application support) (German, 

English, French, Spanish, Italian); 
• On-site end-user support with national coverage through our partner network; 
• IT asset management.  
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Service models: 

• Team extension;  
• Outsourcing IT services: onshore and nearshore, multilingual capabilities; 
• Managed IT services;  
• Hybrid services (on-site and remote); 
• 24/7 on-site assistance capabilities in Romania. 

4. BPO 

Connections operates a Business Process Outsourcing center with approximately 170 employees. The methodology 

followed is based on the analysis of the business processes that the company takes over, the documentation of the 

"as-is" version (how the current process is described) and the creation of the "to-be" version (how the process flow 

will look like in the outsourced version operated by Connections).  

This work also involves streamlining and redefining processes. The transition and calibration period follows, then the 

service delivery begins, measured against SLAs (service levels), in relation to the client organisations and KPIs 

(process indicators), with the contracted SLA level being achieved through careful internal quality management. 

Experts on each major process type (called Subject Matter Experts) are involved, who have a detailed view on the 

respective processes in various variants, with experience in other companies in similar industries. Below is an overview 

of the governance model - i.e. the operational relationship during the project between Connections and the client 

organisation. 
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2.4 PRODUCTS 
 

The technologies implemented by Connections have multiple applications in the area of business processes. The 

company produces both applications according to specific customer requirements and stand-alone software 

products with applicability in various situations. 

1. ID SCANNER - ID Scanner is an application that digitally extracts data from ID cards by a simple photograph. The 

application integrates easily with Connections automation products and customer systems. 

ID Scanner is a microservice/component that can be easily integrated into an IT system implementing complex 

business flows. It exposes a collection of Rest methods (Rest API) that allow interfacing with a high degree of flexibility 

and security.  

The solution can be hosted in the cloud or on premise, but can also be offered as SaS2 .  

 
2. CONTABOT - It is a virtual Accounting "assistant". Built with UiPath technology, Tudor (as the contabot is 

commercially called) helps accountants save time and accuracy. 

The product presentation page is: https://contabot.ai, and the promotional campaign has been taken up in various 

business publications3 .  

Contabot performs various tasks, including: 

-issue/issue/issue  receipts for tax returns; 

-Import  invoices issued by the accounting firm on behalf of clients' companies; 

-processes  timesheets; 

-generates  payroll statements and sends them by email; 

-generates  reports at the end of the month; 

-generates  POs for payroll taxes; 

-enter  invoices based on information previously entered in Excel; 

 

2 https://www.zf.ro/business-hi-tech/connections-a-lansat-o-aplicatie-prin-care-datele-din-cartile-de-19616731 

3 https://www.forbes.ro/connections-lanseaza-un-robot-individual-de-contabilitate-193708 
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-print  monthly documents; 

-generates  112 statements. 

Contabot is the first product in a series that will contain robots specialised in various functions in industries where 

automation can be used with spectacular results: accounting, finance, HR.  

3. DIGITAL WORKPLACE - Digital Workplace is the first smart service on the Romanian market where companies 
have access to IT&C equipment, software products and expert support at the same time, a Workplace-as-a-
Service. Some of the media appearances and the campaign with Mastercard are mentioned below: 

o https://start-up.ro/digital-workplace-one-stop-shop-pentru-toate-nevoile-de-it-ale-firmei/,  
o https://www.wall-street.ro/articol/Finante-Banci/269457/mastercard-lanseaza-un-pachet-de-solutii-

pentru-digitalizarea-afacerilor.html#gref,  
o https://www.mastercard.ro/ro-ro/consumatori/stiri/pachetul-pentru-digitalizarea-afacerii-tale.html 

The product website is: https://myservicehub.ro  

 
4. Apollo - software application that manages the entire project management life-cycle of an audit and/or consulting 

process, developed in partnership with a top 4 global company in the audit and management consulting industry.  

 
 

2.5 EXAMPLES OF PROJECTS 
 

Connections has successfully implemented robotic automation processes and software applications developed 

entirely by its own team, for various industries, from FMCG, banking, utilities, retail, to accounting firms, BPO 

companies and healthcare companies. Automated processes have targeted financial-accounting and operational 

departments, with activities related to monthly reporting, leave management, invoice entry in accounting software, 

as well as back-office processes in the banking industry. 
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Examples of success, reported by the press, are the automations carried out for Medicover and Optima: 

- The SAM robot: https://www.zf.ro/business-hi-tech/compania-connections-a-implementat-un-robot-pentru-
gestionarea-abonatilor-medicover-18515452 

- The Adam robot: https://www.agerpres.ro/ots/2019/12/04/connections-a-creat-pentru-optima-robotul-care-
ajuta-clientii-sa-comande-telefoane-in-rate--640646  

Business Process Automation (BPO) covers important functions within client companies, from finance and accounting 

(F&A), procurement and payment (procure to pay, "P2P"), purchasing, IT, human resources (HR), operations, project 

management (PM), marketing, sales, to business support in the implementation of software solutions and RPA. The 

business model in which the company collaborates with its commercial partners is full managed services, whereby 

the services provided are evaluated on the basis of the delivered parameters, not on the effort put in or the number 

of consultants employed. In order to respond to the needs of clients and to be able to ensure an increasingly high 

level of service quality, an operational governance framework has been designed to help manage the KPIs of the 

activities performed. 
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2.6 SWOT analysis 
 

 

 

 

 

Strengths 

ª relevant experience in the field of activity 
ª one of UiPath's three Gold Partners in Romania 
ª representative client portfolio 
ª presence in dynamic markets (Saudi Arabia, 

Germany) 
ª delivery centres in countries with a large pool of IT 

resources (Romania, Serbia, Bulgaria) 
ª strong banking expertise - backed by consultants 

with solid backgrounds 
ª implementation skills for RPA solutions (UiPath) and 

other global RPA vendors  

 

Weaknesses 

³ medium-sized team, which cannot yet take on very 
large projects quickly 

³ some roles in the delivery area are accumulated by 
the same people, there is a need to segregate 
responsibilities and hire more people 

 

Opportunities 

v positive dynamics in the field of digitization and 
business process automation  

v telework introduces the need for accelerated 
digitization of companies' activities 

v possibility of expanding presence in regions with 
relevant IT resources (Ukraine, Belarus, Moldova) 

v UiPath's success has generated in the perception of 
international clients a positive global image for 
Romanian companies active in RPA 

v Trend towards nearshoring: customer companies in 
Western Europe and the United States are 
reorienting themselves from traditional suppliers - 
India, Vietnam, the Philippines - to locations closer 
in terms of culture and operating hours. In addition, 
GDPR rules make it mandatory for many projects 
with EU customers to be implemented in the EU. 

 

Threats 

o In-sourcing: some large companies are trying to 
achieve digital transformation in-house 

o Limited capacity of technology delivery centers can 
result in lost deals; outsourcing customers tend to 
consolidate suppliers, and lack of project takeover 
capabilities can steer them towards Connections 
competitors; 

o narrowing the gap between salaries in the 
Romanian IT market and the US or EU can reduce 
the profitability of the company's services 
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3. Connections Group activity analysis in 2021 
 

3.1 Analysis of the Group's financial results (comparative 2021 vs 2020, 2021 achieved vs estimated) 
 

In 2021 - a landmark year in the Group's history - Connections achieved in terms of financial performance results 

above initial estimates, and, considerably better than in 2020.  

The tables below show the comparative analysis of the main indicators in the P&L for 2021 achieved, 2021 estimated 

and 2020.  

 

P&L 31.12.2021 Compiled Made 2021 Compiled Estimate 2021 Compiled 2020 

Operating income 45.325.286 RON  37.484.000 RON  36.484.222 RON  

Operating 

expenses (41.864.217 RON) (34.197.000 RON) (33.588.821 RON) 

Operational result 3.461.068 RON  3.287.000 RON  2.895.401 RON  

Financial result (1.389 RON) (122.000 RON) (122.000 RON) 

Gross Profit 3.459.679 RON  3.165.000 RON  2.773.015 RON  

Net Profit 3.030.649 RON  2.658.600 RON  2.391.000 RON  

Gross Margin 8% 8% 8% 

 

P&L 31.12.2021 
Results 2021 vs Estimated 
2021 Results 2021 vs 2020 

Total income 21% 24% 
Operating expenses 22% 25% 
Operational result 5% 20% 
Gross Profit 9% 25% 
Net Profit 14% 27% 
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INCOME 

An increase in revenue is observed in 2021, both compared to estimates and compared to 2020. The main business line 

contributing to the increase is Software Development, which, both through a significant contract with a major public 

institution and through implementation projects with partners from the private sector, coupled with the Brusch acquisition, 

generated revenue considerably above expectations.  

 

GROSS PROFIT 

Gross profit increased by 25% compared to 2020 and by 9% above estimates, under the impact of software development 

projects and optimizations in the BPO team. At the same time, it should be borne in mind that this growth came in a year 

with adverse variations in expenses, generated both by activities related to the listing process and the hiring of highly 

qualified staff.  

 

GROSS MARGIN 

Gross margin for the group as a whole remained around 8%, under the impact of the expenses mentioned above - 

those generated by the listing, new hires, strengthening financial governance and investments in acquiring new 

customers through digital marketing and traditional sales channels. 

 

We assess as positive the results published at group level and consider that the outperformance of the estimates in 

the Memorandum published prior to the listing denotes the company's ability to deliver increasingly better results 

to the market. 

3.2 Analysis of service lines 
 

COMPOSITION OF THE TURNOVER OF THE CONNECTIONS GROUP 

Revenues generated by each service line (hereafter referred to as Departments) have developed in line with the 

Group's strategy to focus on new technologies.  

The target to increase the contribution of new digital technologies to total annual revenues, mentioned in the 

Private Placement Memorandum, has been achieved for 2021, with the share of software and RPA lines 

accounting for 28% of revenues in 2021, compared to 15% in 2020. The increase has been matched by a 

decrease in the share of traditional services - BPO & ITO - which demonstrates the Group's commitment to 

shaping a regional leader in digital transformation.  
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P&L 31.12.2021 BPO ITO Sw RPA Others 

% Group revenue 58% 12% 22% 6% 2% 

 

P&L 31.12.2020 BPO ITO Sw RPA Others 

% Group revenue 68% 17% 9% 6% 0% 

 

ABSOLUTE VALUES 

The comparisons below highlight significant revenue increases for Software and RPA, a modest increase for the BPO 

line, coupled with a decrease in revenue for the ITO department. The latter is explained by the delay in the decision 

to continue an infrastructure project due to external factors, which are not related to the company's performance.  

 

Department Revenue 2021 Realised Revenue 2020 Comparison 

BPO 26.055.103 RON 24.640.000 RON 6% 

ITO 5.412.674 RON 6.100.000 RON -11% 

Sw incl Brusch 10.191.649 RON 3.122.000 RON 226% 

RPA 2.668.240 RON 2.132.000 RON 25% 

Others 997.620 RON 0 RON NA 

 

Below, we have presented the comparisons with the initial estimates. The increases are explained by the initiation of the 

project with a public institution and by the extension of the software development project with a top 5 bank in Romania, 

while the decreases, recorded in ITO and RPA, are explained as follows: 

- ITO: Delaying the decision to continue an infrastructure project; 
- RPA: lengthy sales process that lasted until almost the end of the year for one client in the banking industry and 

another in the pharma industry;  
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Department Revenue 2021 Realised 2021 Estimated Revenue Comparison 

BPO 26.055.103 RON 22.376.000 RON 16% 

ITO 5.412.674 RON 7.000.000 RON -23% 

Sw incl Brusch 10.191.649 RON 4.823.000 RON 111% 

RPA 2.668.240 RON 2.984.000 RON -11% 

Others 997.620 RON 300.000 RON 233% 

Total 45.325.286 37.483.000  

 

INCOME GROWTH RATES 

The substantial growth in operating income achieved by the Group is demonstrated by the positive change in the 

aggregate annual rate, across all service lines (except ITO) and for the company as a whole. Special mention should 

be made of the two pure technology teams - RPA and Software - which have triple-digit aggregate annual growth 

rates, a major achievement. The RPA team, although below the targets in the estimates, has, for the third consecutive 

year, a substantial growth rate.  

 

Department 2018 2019 2020 2021 CAGR 
2020 

CAGR 
2021 

BPO 19.398.000 RON 19.993.000 RON 24.640.000 RON 26.055.000 RON 13% 8% 

ITO 5.965.000 RON 6.718.000 RON 6.100.000 RON 5.413.000 RON 1% -2% 

Software Development 308.000 RON 3.508.000 RON 3.122.000 RON 10.192.000 RON 1% 140% 

RPA 155.000 RON 1.187.000 RON 2.132.000 RON 2.668.000 RON 271% 104% 
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3.3 Presentation of the main project portfolio in relation to economic sectors 
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In terms of the source of revenues by economic sector, the distribution is roughly similar to that shown before the 

private placement and technical listing for 2020. FMCG decreases in share, Banking & Financial Services increases 

significantly to 18% and a new sector - public - passes 1% of total revenues. The distribution of revenues by industry 

is in line with the Group's strategy to diversify revenue sources to increase resilience and reduce dependence on a 

single economic area.  

4. Connections in 2021 highlights 
 

 

 

PRIVATE PLACEMENT 

As part of the successful and early closed private placement, through the intermediary Tradeville, on July 9, 2021, 

Connections completed a primary offering of shares, whereby the company completed a capital increase with cash 

contribution. 

• 144,928 shares (symbol CC) were offered for sale at a price of 69 RON/share. The minimum subscription was 2,200 
shares. 

• The total subscriptions registered were almost RON 119 million, a record amount for a private placement brokered 
by TradeVille, resulting in a 12-fold oversubscription of the offering. The majority of subscriptions were made 
through the TradeVille online trading platform. 
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• The funds attracted in placement, amounting to over RON 10 million, are intended for development on foreign 
markets (including the opening of a subsidiary in the USA), investments in own products and the acquisition of 
majority stakes in other companies. 

 

ADMISSION TO TRADING 

On 22.09.2021, Connections became a public company, traded on the SMT segment, AeRO market, under the symbol 

CC. On the first day, the trading volume exceeded RON 12 million, in a market dominated by a climate of caution 

generated by the movements of international stock exchanges. The following weeks saw a drop in the share price to RON 

60/share, in line with market trends, which were adversely affected by the COVID wave that appeared throughout Europe 

and the supply chain crisis. 

 

COMPANY ACQUISITION 

During the reporting period, Connections acquired 100% of the shares of Brusch Services SRL. Offering consulting on all 

levels of software product development, but with a strong background in Oracle, SAP and Java-based software 

development implementations, Brusch Services will become a highly skilled technology talent management platform within 

the Connections group and will be integrated into the software development vertical. The opportunities to access foreign 

markets, especially the German market, that Brusch Services SRL offers, will allow the group to expand its customer 

portfolio outside Romania in the financial services industry. 

The value of the transaction is less than 10% of the turnover and assets of Connections Consult SA.  

Connections estimates that the Brusch acquisition will bring at least 10% growth in group turnover, following the 

consolidation of financials, in 2022. According to initial estimates, included in the memorandum published at the time of 

listing on the BVB, the group's turnover in 2022 was estimated at around RON 48 million, and Brusch's share was expected 

to be around RON 5 million. Following the budget for 2022, based on considerably better results than the initial estimates 

for 2021, the group's turnover for 2022 is estimated at approximately RON 60 million, with Brusch having RON 6 million.  

Brusch Services S.R.L. is a company with 20 employees and collaborators, which recorded a turnover of 5.09 million lei in 

2020, respectively 2.45 million lei in H1 2020. For 2021, the company's turnover is estimated at 4.6 million lei, and that 

recorded in H1 2021 was 2.27 million lei.  

In 2020, the gross profit margin recorded by Brusch Services S.R.L. stood at 6% (337 thousand RON), and for 2021 it is 

estimated at 10% (approx 470 thousand RON). From H1 2020 to H1 2021, the gross profit margin increased from 3.6% 

(RON 88 thousand) to a margin of approximately 10.5% (RON 240 thousand).  
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SIGNIFICANT CONTRACTS 

On 28.09.2021, Connections signed a software development contract, as a subcontractor to a prime bidder, with a major 

public institution in Romania. The total value of the contract amounts to RON 5.8 million. The subject of the contract is 

custom software development and maintenance of the delivered solution. Software development services will be 

implemented over the next 11 months, while maintenance services will be provided until the end of the 83-month period 

of the subcontracting agreement. The signed contract is part of Connections' strategy to deliver and operate digital 

transformation services, by implementing platforms to enroll and operate workflows for individual users, beneficiaries of 

the services offered by Connections' customers.  

5. Business and sales strategy for 2022-2024 
 

In recent years, Connections' sales strategy has been based on the connections of the management team, mainly 

generated by the company's CEO - Bogdan Florea, and on the references obtained from projects carried out with 

various clients. Therefore, the approach to the market was reactive and structured in stages with a slow pace of 

implementation. The development plans set out in the private placement, as well as the current global market 

context, led us to modify this strategy towards a model with several independent pillars, offering a higher degree of 

resilience and an increased capacity for accelerated scaling. So, in the 2022-2024 cycle, Connections will focus on: 

1. Technology partnerships with established technology vendors: UiPath, Microsoft, Aurachain - the ability to 
deliver projects with the mentioned technologies can pave the way for other possible projects independent 
of them. 

2. Digital Marketing: recent years have marked a shift in the efficiency of the customer acquisition process from 
the traditional area - cold calling, to the digital space, through the application of digital marketing techniques. 
We are already seeing results - customers interested in our products obtained through precisely targeted 
digital marketing campaigns - geography, industries, interests. 

3. Consultative selling - more and more customers are aware of their digitisation needs but are unable to 
generate detailed and accurate analysis to help suppliers define viable architectures and realistic offerings. 
We help them by offering consultancy to generate, together with them, useful and efficient digitisation 
models. To this end, we engage or partner with companies or individuals with expertise in the client's field 
of activity. In other words, we migrate from the area of selling technology services to the area of business 
services with a technology footprint.  

4. We intend to be intensively active in the sphere of public tenders in Romania and the EU, betting on a 
significant influx of public investment in the field of digitization (PNRR, European funds from 2021-2028). In 
order to achieve this goal we plan to build a strong team to carry out bidding and participation in public 
tenders (bid). 
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6. Significant clients 
 

The Connections Group serves a range of reputable clients, from multinational companies in the financial services 
(banking, insurance), FMCG, technology, logistics and utilities sectors, to local companies and non-governmental 
organisations.  

Over the past 10 years, the Group has served more than 100 clients, 30% of which are Fortune 100 companies. The 
Company's portfolio includes clients in four regions: Europe (Belgium, France, Switzerland, Poland, Hungary, Turkey, 
Netherlands, UK, Germany), North America (USA), Middle East (Saudi Arabia, Lebanon) and Asia (Vietnam, India). 

For reasons of client confidentiality, guaranteed by the service contracts, the Company cannot name large clients, 
but can only provide general information about them. 

The main industries in which the Group's customers operate are: 

Technology and engineering 

• Client x - multinational company (Top 50 Fortune Global) 
• Various Romanian companies - IT integrators, software developers 

Logistics and Distribution 

• Client x - large local company (+ EUR 50 million turnover) 
• Client x - multinational company based in Germany (+600 million EUR turnover) 
• Others 

Health 

• Client x - Network of private clinics, local company  

• Others 

Oil and gas 

• Direct client - technology company (Top 50 Fortune India), final client Oil & Gas company (Top 500 Fortune 
Global) 

• Others 

Production 

• Client x - German company with a turnover of over EUR 1 billion 
• Others 
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FMCG 

• Multinational company 1, Fortune 500 Global 
• Multinational company 2, Fortune 500 Global 
• Multinational company 3, one of the 3 largest global brewers 
• Others 

Public/Governmental 

• The main national energy regulatory agency  

Financial Sector 

• Banks: 5 of the 15 largest banks in Romania, 1 bank in Saudi Arabia (out of top 3) 
• Credit collection: company in the top 3 collection and debt management agencies in Romania 
• Insurance: top 3 company in the insurance industry in Romania 

Energy and Utilities 

• Customer 1 - one of the top 3 electricity suppliers 
• Customer 2 - one of the top 3 natural gas suppliers 
• Client 3 - one of the top 3 drinking water distribution 

7. Operational indicators 
 

EBITDA was maintained at a margin close to the 2020 margin of 9% amid the revision of certain cost items. 

As can be seen in the table below, realized EBITDA is 4% higher than estimated, and at the same time 17% above 

the 2020 value.   

 

The company expects to develop a number of new products that will ensure sustained growth and 

diversification of the company's business, as well as an improvement in EBITDA margin. These products will 

open up new markets and potential lines of business with increased profitability. 

The concurrent growth in turnover and share of digitization projects we estimate will generate a 33% compound 

annual growth (CAGR) in EBITDA over the next 3 years, and a 35% per annum growth in net profit over the 

same period to 2024. 
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8. Elements of perspective on the company's activity 
 

The year 2022, which has already started, has some important milestones, both for the corporate governance and 

operational business areas. 

 

1. Share split: March 2022 - completed, will be implemented in May 2022. 
2. Opening of the US branch - April 2022 
3. Creation of advisory board - estimated June 2022 
4. Employee Stock Option Program - ESOP - estimated in H2 2022 
5. Increased activity in the government tender market - we have already started participating in public tenders, 

we expect significant results in H2 2022 
6. Acquisition of external customers in US, UK, Western Europe - by hiring a VP for International Sales, in 

conjunction with digital marketing activities, we expect results in H2 2022 
7. Acquisition of a company - min 51% stake - we are in discussions with two foreign (Belgium, UK) and two 

local companies. 

In addition, we focus on improving our operating indicators - net asset value, financial position, gross profit and 

operating income.  

 

 

15% 

4% 
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9. Income and Expenses Budget for 2022 
 

The year 2022 will be a year of challenges in which the Connections Group management is focusing on the development 
of the software development line.  

 

The estimate for operating revenue for software development is 30% growth compared to 2021. Total estimated 
operating revenues for the year 2022 amount to 59,023,802 and the main contributors to the generation of these 
revenues are Service Delivery with estimated revenues of 37 million lei with BPO and ITO subdivisions, respectively 
Software Development with estimated revenues of 14.5 million lei. 

 

The growth in Software Development division revenues is forecast as a result of two main directions:  

- Contracting large-scale projects in strategic industries such as the energy sector, the financial sector, 
infrastructure in the administrative sector; 

- Development of the solution palette for specialized software support know-how within Brusch. 
 

To increase revenues in the Service Delivery division, Connections Group management is counting on innovative 
products that are important differentiators in relation to the market offer. 
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The estimated EBITDA margin for 2022 is 10% and the estimated net margin is 8%. The net margin is conservatively 
estimated and the Group's management is aiming to exceed this indicator for 2022.  In absolute terms, net profit is 
estimated at 4.7 million lei. 

 

Regarding the evolution of the Group's revenues by main business lines (divisions), the table below shows a slightly 
more conservative 5-year compound average growth rate (2022 estimated) for the Service Delivery division (8%) while 
the Software Development division shows a more accelerated rate of over 100%. However, it should be noted that the 
Service Delivery division remains a pivotal area for the Connections Group's business. 

 

 

 

In terms of the Group's operating performance, for 2022 the operating margin is estimated at 12%. The estimate is 
above what was achieved in previous years where the operating margin was 8%. This will allow us to achieve a higher 
net margin which is budgeted at 8%. In order to achieve this objective, management is focusing on optimizing costs and 
achieving synergies at the operational level such as those resulting from the integration of Brusch Services SRL which 
will contribute to the efficiency of the Group's activities and therefore to the increase in financial performance. 
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EBITDA margin will continue to be a key indicator for Connections Group management. It should be noted that the 
estimated EBITDA margin shows solid growth over 3 years (2022 estimated) of activity. The average compound growth 
rate for the 3 years amounts to 19%.  In absolute value, the 2022 EBITDA estimate is 5.6 million lei. 

 

 

 

10. Analysis of individual situations: performance and financial position 
 

THE FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE ISSUER 

10.1 Strengthening the Financial Position in 2021 
 

The year 2021 meant for Connections Consult the strengthening of the financial position in the Balance Sheet. The 

company recorded an increase in the value of assets easily convertible into cash, as revealed by the comparative balance 

sheet statement 2020 versus 2021. The increase in current assets is mainly due to two important factors (capital infusion 

as a result of the listing on the AeRO market and the increase in the issuer's economic activity materialized by the increase 

in receivables as of December 2021). 

At the end of 2021, the issuer recorded a balance of Current Assets in the amount of RON 19,775,687 of which RON 7.9 

million represented cash on hand.  

A. FIXED ASSETS         

I. IMOBILIZARI NECORPORALE (ct.201+203+205+206+2071+4094+208-280-

290-4904) 
01 10-01      775.517         912.534  

II. IMOBILIZARI CORPORALE 

(ct.211+212+213+214+215+216+217+223+224+227+231+235+4093-281-291-

2931-2935-4903) 

02 10-02      546.911         406.601  

III. FINANCIAL FIXED ASSETS (ct.261+262+263+265+267-296) 03 10-03      428.441      1.534.203  

FIXED ASSETS - TOTAL (rd.01+02+03) 04 10-04   1.750.869     2.853.338  

B.CURRENT ASSETS         

I.STOCURI (ct.301+302+303+321+322+/-

308+323+326+327+328+331+332+341+345+346+347+/-
05 10-05                  -                  -  
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The strengthening of the financial position is congruent with management's understanding of the importance of careful 

cash flow management in the context of the current crisis and economic bottlenecks that the world economy is going 

through (we are talking about the supply chain crisis, the crisis caused by COVID-19, the crisis caused by the war in Ukraine). 

In other words, in these circumstances, it becomes a priority to make cash flow more efficient in order to cope with potential 

market turbulence. 

The increase in the balance of financial fixed assets is mainly due to the acquisition of 100% of the shares of Brusch Services 

SRL.  

10.2 Explanation of changes in liabilities 
 

The increase in the debt balance which was at December 2021 well below the increase in the value of assets, this 

was mainly the result of the recording of the dividend payment obligation at 31 December 2021. These dividends in 

the amount of RON 1.95 million will be distributed at a later date depending on the balance sheet situation existing 

at that time and their distribution will be subject to the approval of the decision-making bodies according to the 

rules in force.  

 

Also at the end of 2021, the issuer increased the credit line contracted with Banca Transilvania up to the amount of 

2,000,000 lei by negotiating financing costs and conditions much lower than the existing ones. 

As a novelty for the year 2021, a provision for the non-take-up of holiday leave of 264,874 has been set up, which 

may be partially or fully reversed if the company's employees benefit from the holiday leave carried over. 

348+351+354+356+357+358+361+/-368+371+/-378+381+-/388+4091-391-
392-393-394-395-396-397-398-din ct.4428-4901) 

II. 

CREANTE1. (ct.267*-

296*+4092+411+413+418+425+4282+431**+436**+437**+4382+441**+4424

+din 

ct.4428**+444**+445+446**+447**+4482+451**+453**+456**+4582+461+466
2+473**-491-495-496-4902+5187) 

06a(301) 
10-

06a(301) 
  8.756.881     11.894.138  

2.Dividend receivables distributed during the financial year (ct.463) 06b(302) 
10-
06b(302) 

0                 -  

TOTAL (rd.06a+06b) 06 10-06   8.756.881   11.894.138  

III. SHORT-TERM INVESTMENTS (items 501+505+506+508*+5113+5114-591-

595-596-598) 
07 10-07 0                 -  

IV. HOUSE AND BANK ACCOUNTS (ct.508*+5112+512+531+532+541+542) 08 10-08   2.364.404      7.881.549  

CURRENT ASSETS - TOTAL (headings 05+06+07+08) 09 10-09 11.121.285   19.775.687  
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D. DEBTS: AMOUNTS PAYABLE WITHIN ONE YEAR (ct.161)+162+166+167+168-

169+269+401+403+404+405+408+419+421+423+424+426+427+4281+431***+436***+437***+4381+441**

*+4423+4428***+444***+446***+446***+4481+451***+453***+455+456***+457+4581+462+4661+473***+

509+5186+519) 

13 10-13 
     
5.154.529  

    
8.775.590  

E. NET CURRENT ASSETS/NET CURRENT LIABILITIES (headings 09+11-13-20-23-26) 14 10-14 
    

5.915.245  

 

11.034.754  

F. TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES (rd.04+12+14) 15 10-15 
    

7.666.114  

 

13.888.092  

G. DEBTS: PAYABLE WITHIN ONE YEAR (ct.161)+162+166+167+168-

169+269+401+403+404+405+408+419+421+423+424+426+427+4281+431***+436***+437***+4381+441**

*+4423+4428***+444***+446***+447***+4481+451***+453***+455+456***+4581+462+4661+473***+509+

5186+519) 

16 10-16 
     

1.611.133  

       

148.123  

H. PROVIZIOANE (ct.151) 17 10-17 0 
       
268.874  

I. REVENUE IN ADVANCE (headings 19+22+25+28) 18 10-18 
          
62.480  

         
40.814  

 

10.3 Net Assets 
 

The issuer's net asset value doubled in 2021 compared to FY2020 and this positive change was due to the 

following factors: 

- Capital infusion from the AeRO Market following the listing of the company; 

- The financial performance achieved as of December 2021 due to the investments made both in developing 

new business lines and in expanding the customer base, either by acquiring companies with potential such as 

Brusch Services SRL or by organically developing the customer network. 

 

J. CAPITAL AND RESERVES         

I. CAPITAL (rd. 30+31+32+33+34) 29 10-29               200        108.116  

1. Subscribed paid-in capital (ct.1012) 30 10-30                200         108.116  

2. Unpaid subscribed capital (ct.1011) 31 10-31 0                 -  
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3. Assets of the Royalty (ct.1015) 32 10-32 0                 -  

4. Assets of national research and development institutes (ct.1018) 33 10-33 0                 -  

5. Other equity items (item 1031) 34 10-34 0                 -  

II. CAPITAL PREMIUM (ct.104) 35 10-35 0    12.481.743  

III. REEVALUATION RESERVE (ct.105) 36 10-36 0                 -  

IV. RESERVE (ct.106) 37 10-37                 40           21.623  

Own shares (ct.109) 38 10-38 0                 -  

Gains related to equity instruments (item 141) 39 10-39 0                 -  

Losses related to equity instruments (item 149) 40 10-40 0       (325.001) 

V. REPORTED PROFIT OR LOSS(A) SOLD C(ct.117) 41 10-41      3.743.416                   2  

                                                                        SOLD D(ct.117) 42 10-42                  -                  -  

VI. PROFIT OR LOSS AT THE END OF THE REPORTING PERIOD         

                                                                        SOLD C(ct.121) 43 10-43      2.311.325      1.206.196  

                                                                        SOLD D(ct.121) 44 10-44                  -                  -  

Distribution of profit (ct.129) 45 10-45 0         (21.583) 

SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY - TOTAL (headings 29+35+36+37-38+39-40+41-
42+43-44-45) 

46 10-46      6.054.981     13.471.096  

 

 

THE FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE OF THE ISSUER. 

The Issuer's total revenues recorded a marginal adverse change of 1% on the back of the reorganisation of contract 

servicing at the business line and group entity level. Starting from the second part of 2021, affiliated companies in 

the Issuer's group took over the servicing of certain projects which led to a distribution of revenues to other 

companies in the Connections Romania group as well, as can be seen from the presentation of the financial 

statements compiled as at 31 December 2021 of the Connections Romania group. 

 

A positive development was the revenue from license sales, which recorded a favorable variation of 42% on the back 

of the interest shown by Beneficiaries in solutions provided by UiPath, etc. 
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Total expenditure also showed a slight adverse variance of 3% as the organisation developed to strengthen corporate 

governance and secure resources to service new contracts with beneficiaries. 

 

Details of the presentation of the Profit and Loss Account as at 31 December 2021 individually can be found in the 

annexes to this Report. 

11. Risks 

The company analyses potential risks through its internal risk management system and tries to anticipate and 

neutralise them before potential consequences arise. However, many of the risks to which the Company is 

subject are beyond its control. 

11.1 Risks related to the company's activity 
 

General economic risks - the Issuer's activities are sensitive to economic cycles and general economic 

conditions. Both international financial crises and the unstable economic environment may have significant 

negative effects on the Issuer's business, operating results and financial position. Socio-political turmoil may 

also impact the Company's business. 

Risk associated with key people - the company carries out a business that requires advanced knowledge and 

specialisation. The company depends on recruiting and retaining senior management and skilled employees. 

The medium and long-term profitability of the company depends, to a large extent, on the performance of 

qualified employees, staff and executive management, which are particularly important for its development. 

Tax and legal risk - the issuer is governed by Romanian legislation and, even if the Romanian legislation has 

been largely harmonised with EU legislation, further changes may occur, i.e. new laws and regulations may be 

introduced, which may have effects on the company's activity. Romanian legislation is often unclear, subject to 

different interpretations and implementation and frequent changes. Both changes in tax and legal legislation 

and possible events generated by their application may result in possible fines or lawsuits against the company, 

which may impact the Issuer's activity.  

Litigation risk - Although the Issuer takes great care to comply with all legal provisions, in the context of the 

conduct of its business, the Issuer is subject to litigation risk and other legal proceedings. The Issuer may be 

affected by contractual or non-contractual claims, complaints, including from counterparties in contractual 

relationships, customers, competitors or regulatory authorities. Any negative publicity associated with such an 

event may also have an influence. 
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At the date of this document, the Issuer is not involved in legal proceedings. 

Risk of seizure of the Issuer's accounts - seizure of accounts is a foreclosure measure that can be applied to a 

company. Thus, the Issuer's accounts may be blocked as a result of the attachment if creditors of the Issuer 

request this measure to recover their debts. The impounding of the Issuer's accounts entails the freezing of the 

amounts in the impounded accounts and may result in the company being hindered or prevented from 

honouring its subsequent obligations on agreed terms. 

 
Risk of loss of reputation - is a risk inherent to the Issuer's activity, reputation being particularly important in the 

business environment, especially if the company wishes to expand its activity to other markets. The ability to expand 

its portfolio in order to develop its business depends on the recognition of the Issuer's brand and the establishment 

of its products in the target markets. 

Risk associated with interest rates and funding sources - in the event of a deterioration in the economic 

environment in which the Issuer operates, the Issuer could find itself unable to take out a new loan on the terms 

it has previously benefited from, which could lead to increased funding costs and negatively affect the 

Company's financial situation. 

Price risk - this is the risk that the market price of products and services sold by the company will fluctuate to such an 

extent as to make existing contracts unprofitable. The company closely monitors market prices and, if necessary, may 

withdraw from contracts that risk becoming unfavourable. 

Personal data protection risk - in the course of its business, the company collects, stores and uses data that is 

protected by personal data protection laws. Although the Issuer takes precautionary measures to protect 

customer data in accordance with the legal requirements on privacy protection, especially in the context of the 

implementation of the General Data Protection Regulation (EU) 2016/79 and in Romania (as of 25 May 2018), 

the risks of data leakage cannot be completely eliminated. 

Cash-flow risk - this is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its payment obligations when due. 

Liquidity risk - includes the risk arising from the possibility of non-recovery of debts. Due to the specific nature 

of its activity, the Company maintains a level of receivables and payables that allows the optimal conduct of its 

business. 

Counterparty risk - this is the risk that a third party natural or legal person will fail to meet its obligations under 

a financial instrument or customer contract, thereby resulting in a financial loss. The Company is exposed to 

credit risk from its operating activities (mainly for external trade receivables) and from its financial activities, 
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including deposits with banks and financial institutions, foreign exchange transactions and other financial 

instruments.  

Risk associated with insolvency and bankruptcy - Romania's bankruptcy and enforcement laws do not provide 

the same level of rights, remedies and projections enjoyed by creditors under the legal regimes of other EU 

jurisdictions. In particular, Romanian bankruptcy and enforcement law and practice may make recovery by 

Issuers of amounts related to secured and unsecured claims in Romanian courts more difficult and time-

consuming than in other countries. In recent years, insolvency in Romania has experienced an unfavourable 

dynamic, with insolvent companies, as well as companies reporting net losses, being largely responsible for the 

worsening payment discipline in the economy as a whole. 

Pandemic risk - Although ignored in recent decades, this risk (in particular the risk of global epidemics, i.e. the 

risk of a pandemic) has relatively recently returned to public attention. Although for some companies this may 

become an opportunity, at least in the short term, the overall economic impact is considered to be negative. 

Thus, there are views that, depending on the nature and severity of the epidemic/pandemic, it can induce 

recessions lasting a quarter or even several years. 

Other risks - Potential investors should consider that the risks outlined above are the most significant risks of 

which the company is aware at the time of writing. However, the risks presented in this section do not necessarily 

include all those risks associated with the Issuer's business and the Company cannot guarantee that it 

encompasses all relevant risks. There may be other risk factors and uncertainties of which the Company is not 

aware at the time of writing which may change the actual results, financial conditions, performance and 

achievements of the Issuer in the future and lead to a fall in the price of the Company's shares. Investors should 

also undertake the necessary due diligence in order to make their own assessment of the suitability of the 

investment. 

Therefore, the decision of potential investors as to whether an investment in financial instruments issued by the 

Issuer is appropriate should be made after a careful assessment of both the risks involved and the other 

information about the Issuer contained or not contained in this document. 

11.2 General risks concerning Shares 
Investment Opportunity Assessment 

Each potential investor in Shares must determine, based on its own independent analysis and/or professional 

recommendations which it considers appropriate in the circumstances, the suitability of the investment in 

question. 

Every potential investor should, in particular:  
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a) have sufficient knowledge and experience to make a meaningful assessment of the Shares, the benefits 

and risks of investing in the Shares and the information contained in the Memorandum or any supplement 

thereto;  

b) have access to and possess the necessary information on the appropriate analytical methods and tools 

to assess, in the context of its specific financial situation, an investment in Shares and the impact of Shares on 

its overall investment portfolio;  

c)  have sufficient financial resources and liquidity to bear all the risks of an investment in Shares;  

d) fully understand the terms of the Shares and be familiar with the performance of any relevant indices 

and financial markets; and  

e) be  able to assess (either on its own or with the assistance of a financial advisor) possible scenarios regarding 

economic, interest rate and other factors that may affect the investment and its ability to bear the related risks. 

Tax regime 

Potential buyers and sellers of Shares should be aware that they may be required to pay taxes or other 

documented fees or commissions in accordance with Romanian law and practice. Prospective investors are 

advised not to rely solely on the tax information contained in this Memorandum, but to consult their own 

advisers regarding their specific tax obligations applicable to the purchase, holding or sale of Shares. Only such 

advisers are in a position to correctly assess the particular circumstances of each potential investor. This 

investment analysis should be corroborated with the tax regime sections of this document.  

Legislative changes 

The terms of the Shares (including any non-contractual obligations arising out of or in connection therewith) 

shall be based on the relevant laws in force at the date of this Memorandum. No assurance can be given as to 

the impact of any possible court decisions or legislative changes or official application or interpretation of such 

laws or administrative practices subsequent to the document.  

The risk of direct investment in shares 

Investors should be aware of the risk associated with a direct investment in equities, which is much higher than 

the risk associated with an investment in government securities or investment fund shares, given the volatile 

nature of the capital markets and share prices. 
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Risk associated with future share price and trading liquidity 

Share prices and trading liquidity for companies listed on the SMT depend on the number and size of buy and sell 

orders placed by investors. There can be no guarantee as to the future price of the Company's shares and no 

guarantee as to their liquidity. It is not possible to guarantee that an investor who buys the shares will be able to sell 

them at any time at a satisfactory price. 

Market Value of Shares 

The value of the Shares depends on a number of interrelated factors including economic, financial and political 

events occurring in Romania or elsewhere in the world, including factors affecting the capital markets in general 

and the stock exchanges on which the Shares are traded. The price at which a holder of Shares will be able to 

sell the Shares may contain a discount from the purchase price paid by such purchaser, which may be 

substantial. 

12. Corporate governance elements 
 

CONNECTIONS has taken important steps to ensure good corporate governance. To this end, steps have been 

taken to hire experienced professionals in key positions, namely COO and CFO.  At the date of publication of this 

report, the positions are already filled.  

Connections is working to select advisors to fill positions on the future Advisory Board that will be operational in 

the first quarter of 2022. 

At the same time, starting next year, Connections management will harmonise reporting standards and procedures 

to ensure an effective control environment. Accounting policies will be prepared in accordance with the relevant 

legislation in force. 
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13. Executive team and Board of Directors 
 

In 2022, the Group's executive team (Steering Committee) will consist of: 

 

 

 

Bogdan Liviu Florea - CEO 

With over 20 years of experience in the IT&C field, Bogdan Liviu Florea is specialized 

in software project management and integration.  

Passionate about business development Bogdan is a graduate of the Vienna University of Economics and Business. 

Professional experience: 

• July 2005 - Present: CEO - Connections Consult 

• May 2020 - Present: Member of Board of Advisors - CEE Digital Services Association 

• January 2019 - Present: Vice President - Employers Association of the Software and Services Industry (ANIS) 

• June 2001 - October 2007: Software Developer / Project Manager - Freescale Semiconductor 

  

Education and training: 

• Master of Business Administration - Vienna University of Economics and Business, 2009 - 2011 

• Executive MBA - Carlsson School of Management, 2009 - 2010 

• Master's and Bachelor's degree - Polytechnic University of Bucharest, 1997 - 2002 

Mr. Bogdan Florea holds 75.08% of the Company's shares. 
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 George Nita - Hyperautomation Manager  

Graduate of the "Politehnica" University of Bucharest and Software Engineer with 

over 20 years of experience. Strong coordination and planning skills acquired as a 

result of 8 years experience as Project Manager. Currently, George is Connections 

Hiperautomation Manager and RPA Developer with over 4 years of experience. 

Professional experience: 

• February 2017 - Present: Automation Manager - Connections Consult 

• January 2010 - January 2017: Software Engineer - Luxoft 

  

Education and training: 

• Bachelor's degree - Polytechnic University of Bucharest, 1997 - 2002 

Mr. George Nita holds 1.66% of the Company's shares. 

 

Vlad Sgindar - Service Delivery Manager, Deputy General Manager  

Service Delivery Manager with relevant experience and a proven track record of 

working in the information technology and services industry.  

Skills in negotiations, business planning, customer relationship management (CRM) 

and management.  

Graduate of Dimitrie Cantemir Christian University, Finance and Banking, 

specialized in negotiations, business planning and customer relationship management. 

Professional experience: 

• September 2015 - Present: Service Delivery Manager - Connections Consult 

• June 2013 - August 2015: Business Development Manager - Connections Consult 

• September 2008 - June 2013: Underwriter - Asirom - Vienna Insurance Group  

Education and training: 

• Bachelor's degree (Finance and Banking) - Dimitrie Cantemir Christian University, 2004 - 2008 

Mr. Vlad Sgindar holds 2.50% of the Company's shares. 
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Magda Cristescu - Operations Manager, Deputy General Manager 

Magda is a manager with a wealth of experience in service delivery within the 

IT&C industry (Genpact, Huawei, Cosmote), and over 5 years of experience in 

BPO service industry activities. 

Professional experience: 

• September 2014 - Present: Operations Manager - Connections Consult 

• January 2009 - November 2013: Equipment & Services Network Infrastructure Procurement Head of Office - 
Cosmote 

• January 2007 - January 2009: Senior Buyer - Genpact 

• January 2006 - January 2007: Logistics & Acceptance Specialist - Huawei Technologies 

Education and training: 

• Bachelor studies - University of Bucharest, 1995 - 1999 

Magda Cristescu holds 0.08% of the Company's shares. 
 

Claudiu Staniloiu - Recruitment & Employer Branding Manager  

A graduate of the National School of Political and Administrative Studies in Bucharest, 

he specializes in R&D strategies, Organization Charting, Coaching, Change 

Management and Organizational Development. Strong communication and 

coordination skills acquired in over 7 years of experience in HR. 

Professional experience: 

• April 2019 - Present: Recruitment & Employer Branding Manager - Connections Consult 

• October 2018 - April 2019: HR Manager - Key Way Services 

• April 2011 - October 2018: Recruitment, Training & Development Officer - NN Group 

 

Education and training: 

• Master studies - National School of Political and Administrative Studies of Bucharest (SNSPA), 2006 - 2008 

• Bachelor studies - Ovidius University of Constanta, 2002 - 2006 
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Radu Marcu - Software Chief Operating Officer 

A graduate of the Bucharest Academy of Economic Studies, Radu comes with 

extensive experience in managing software development activities, as Director of 

Software On Demand and Business Applications, with strong communication and 

coordination skills gained over time as a team leader. Mr. Radu Marcu does not own 

any shares in Connections Consult SA. 

Professional experience: 

• 2021 - present Chief Operating Officer, Connections Group 
 

• 2018-2021 - Director of Software Development and Business Applications 
 

• 2016 - 2018 - Interactive Software - Sharepoint Architect 
 

• 2007 - 2016 - National Defense System, Engineer, Software Developer, Team Leader 
 

Education and training: 

• Bachelor's degree - Technical Military Academy "Ferdinand I"  
 

• Master studies - Academy of Economic Studies, Bucharest 

 

Decebal Dumitrescu - Chief Financial Officer 

Graduate of Northwood University USA, BBA graduate and holds an MBA degree from 

Sheffield University UK. Decebal has more than 20 years of experience in finance and 

financial consulting. He has held management positions in multinational companies. In 

his career he has worked on ERP implementation projects, financial restructuring 

projects, fundraising and tax law change projects among others. Mr Decebal 

Dumitrescu does not hold any shares in Connections Consult SA. 

Professional experience: 

• 2021 - present, CFO, Connections Group 
• 2020 - 2021, Finance Director, AvisBudget, Romania 
• 2019 - 2020 , Finance Director, RIN Hospitality  
• 2017 - 2019, Finance Manager, SIF Moldova SA 
• 2013 - 2017, Manager, PricewaterhouseCoopers, Romania 
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• 2007 - 2008, Internal Audit Manager, Phillip Morris 
• 2006 - 2007, Senior Associate, TPA Horvath Audit 
• 2005 - Financial Manager, Geberal Electric 
• 2003 - 2005, Howard Johnson Grand Plaza 

Education and training: 

• Bachelor studies: Northwood University, USA 
 

• Master studies: Sheffield University UK 

At the Annual General Meeting on 30.04.2022, the shareholders will be asked to vote on the composition of the 

company's Board of Directors, consisting of: 

- Mr. Bogdan Florea, CEO Connections 
- Ms Oana Beldie, lawyer 
- Mr. Corneliu Stanciu, entrepreneur 

Their CVs can be found in the Investors section of the connections.tech website, here. 

14. Management statement 
 

Bucharest, 30 April 2022 

I confirm, to the best of my knowledge, that the financial results for the period from 01.01.2021 to 31.12.2021 give a true 

and fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial position and income and expenditure position of Connections Consult S.A. 

and that the directors' report gives a true and fair view of the material events that occurred in 2021 and their impact on 

the company's financial position. 

Bogdan Florea 

Unic Administrator, Connections Consult S.A. 
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15. Attachments 
 

15.1 APPENDIX 1- BALANCE SHEET GROUP CONNECTIONS AS AT 31.12.2021 
 

 
RON RON 

Item name 2020 2021 

 
    

A. FIXED ASSETS 
  

I. INTANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS 
                        

1.225.908                   2.889.285      

II. TANGIBLE IMMOBILISATIONS 
                            

633.572      
                 

456.690      

III. FINANCIAL FIXED ASSETS 
                            

423.081      
                 

531.701      

FIXED ASSETS - TOTAL                     2.282.561               3.877.676      

   
B. CURRENT ASSETS                                         -                               -  

I. STOCKS 
                              

59.161                                   -  

II. RECEIVABLES (amounts to be collected after more than one 
year must be shown separately for each item) 

                        
8.642.724      

           
12.828.747      

III. SHORT-TERM INVESTMENTS                                         -                               -  

IV. HOUSE AND BANK ACCOUNTS 
                        

2.812.570                   9.252.140      

CURRENT ASSET                  11.514.455            22.080.887      

C. ADVANCE EXPENDITURE                            
18.380                      79.491      

Amounts to be repaid in up to one year 
                              

18.380      
                   

79.491      

Amounts to be taken back in more than one year                                         -                               -  
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D. DEBTS: AMOUNTS TO BE PAID WITHIN A PERIOD OF UP TO 
ONE YEAR 

                        
7.139.984                   8.306.317      

   
E. NET CURRENT ASSETS / NET CURRENT LIABILITIES                     4.310.705            13.800.754      

   
F. TOTAL ASSETS MINUS CURRENT LIABILITIES                      6.593.266            17.678.430      

   
G. DEBTS: AMOUNTS TO BE PAID IN MORE THAN ONE YEAR 

                        
1.611.133                   3.458.122      

   
H. PROVIZIOANE 

                                        -  
                 

268.874      

   
I. PREPAID INCOME 

                              
82.146      

                   
53.307      

   
1. Investment grants                           82.146                      53.307      

Amounts to be repaid in up to one year 
                              

82.146      
                   

53.307      

Amounts to be taken back in more than one year                                         -                               -  

2. Prepaid income                                         
-  

                             
-  

Amounts to be repaid in up to one year                                          -                               -  

Amounts to be repaid in up to one year                                         -                               -  

3. Prepaid income related to assets received by transfer from 
clients 

                                        
-  

                             
-  

Amounts to be repaid in up to one year                                         -                               -  

Amounts to be taken back in more than one year                                         -                               -  

Negative goodwill                                         -                               -  

   
J. CAPITAL AND RESERVES 

                                        -  
                              

1  

I. CAPITAL                           10.395                   108.311      
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1. Subscribed paid-in capital 
                              

10.395      
                 

108.311      

2. Unsubscribed capital                                         -                               -  

3. The assets of the regie                                         -                               -  

4.Assets of national research and development institutes                                         -                               -  

5. Other equity items                                         -                               -  

   
II. CAPITAL PREMIUM  

                                        -  
           

12.481.743      

   
III. REVALUATION RESERVES                                          -                               -  

   
IV. RESERVE 

                                    
920    

                   
53.959      

 
  

Own shares                                         -                               -  

Gains related to equity instruments                                         -                               -  

Losses related to equity instruments                                         -  - 325.001      

Reserve from translation 
                                 

1.040      
                         

120    

V. REPORTED PROFIT OR LOSS(A) Balance C 
                        

2.579.197      
                              

2  

V. REPORTED PROFIT OR LOSS(A) Balance D                                         -               1.086.097      

                                         -  
                              

1  

VI. PROFIT OR LOSS AT THE END OF THE REPORTING PERIOD 
Balance C                     2.391.340               3.030.649      

VI. PROFIT OR LOSS AT THE END OF THE REPORTING PERIOD 
Balance D                                         -                               -  

                                         -  
                              

1  

Profit sharing  
                                    

760    
                 

312.248      
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                                         -  
                              

1  

EQUITY - TOTAL                     4.982.133            13.951.438      

   
Public Heritage                                         -                               -  

Private wealth                                         -                               -  

   
CAPITAL - TOTAL (headings 46 + 47 + 48)                     4.982.133            13.951.438      

 

 

15.2 APPENDIX NO 2- PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT GROUP CONNECTIONS AS AT 31.12.2021 

 
RON RON 

 Name of indicators 2020 2021 

1. Net turnover (headings 02+03-04+05+06)                           
35.994.078  

                   
44.598.067  

Income from Services                           
34.785.880  

                   
42.845.148  

Income from sale of goods                             
1.208.198  

                     
1.752.919  

3. Income from the production of tangible and intangible fixed 
assets (ct 721+722) 

                               
458.225  

                        
684.848  

4. Income from the revaluation of tangible fixed assets (ct 755)                                         
-  

                                 
-  

5. Income from the production of investment property (ct 725)                                         
-  

                                 
-  

6. Income from operating subsidies                                  
19.737  

                                 
-  

7. Other operating income                                  
12.182  

                          
35.198  

of which, income from negative goodwill (ct 7815)                                    
3.118  

                                 
-  

of which, investment grant income (ct 7584)                                         
-  

                            
7.172  

REVENUE FROM OPERATIONS - TOTAL (headings 01+ 07 - 08 + 
09 + 10+11+12+13) 

                          
36.484.222  

                   
45.325.286  

8. a) Expenditure on raw materials and consumables (ct.601+602)                                
157.246  

                        
119.793  
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Other material expenditure (ct.603+604+606+608)                                  
35.453  

                          
19.557  

b) Other external expenditure (energy and water)(ct.605)                                  
84.694  

                          
19.109  

c) Expenditure on goods (ct.607)                             
1.122.603  

                     
1.665.961  

Trade discounts received (ct. 609)                                         
-  

                                 
-  

9. Staff expenditure (headings 23+24), of which:                           
21.476.204  

                   
22.854.990  

a) Wages and allowances (ct.641+642+643+644)                           
20.976.175  

                   
22.291.354  

b) Insurance and social protection expenditure (ct.645+ 646)                                
500.029  

                        
563.636  

10.a) Value adjustments in respect of tangible and intangible 
fixed assets (headings 26 to 27) 

                               
446.578  

                        
454.631  

a.1) Expenditure (ct.6811+6813+6817)                                
446.578  

                        
454.631  

a.2) Revenue (ct.7813, 7818)                                         
-  

                                 
-  

b) Value adjustments on current assets (headings 29-30)                                         
-  

                          
52.482  

b.1) Expenditure (ct.654+6814)                                         
-  

                          
52.482  

b.2) Revenue (ct.754+7814)                                          
-  

                                 
-  

11. Other operating expenditure (headings 32 to 38)                           
10.266.042  

                   
16.408.821  

11.1. Expenditure on external services 
(ct.611+612+613+614+615+621+622+623+624+625+626+627+628)                             

9.912.032  
                   

16.008.740  

11.2. Expenditure on other taxes, duties and similar charges (c.635)                                
217.891  

                        
248.893  

11.3 Environmental protection expenditure (ct 652)                                         
-  

                                 
-  

11.4 Expenditure on the revaluation of tangible fixed assets (ct 655)                                         
-  

                                 
-  

11.5 Expenditure relating to disasters and similar events (ct 6587)                                         
-  

                                 
-  
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11.6. Other expenditure (ct.651+6581+6582+6583+6588)                                
136.119  

                        
151.189  

Refinancing interest expense recorded by derecognised entities with 
outstanding leasing contracts (item 666*) 

                                        
-  

                                 
-  

Adjustments to provisions (lines 40-41)                                         
-  

                        
268.874  

Expenditure (ct.6812)                                         
-  

                        
268.874  

Revenue (ct.7812)                                         
-  

                                 
-  

OPERATING EXPENDITURE - TOTAL (headings 17 to 20 - 21 + 
22 + 25 + 28 + 31 + 39) 

                          
33.588.821  

          
41.864.217,29      

OPERATING PROFIT OR LOSS: 
  

Profit (rd. 16-42))                             
2.895.401  

            
3.461.068,26      

Loss (rd. 42-16) 
  

9. Income from participating interests                                         
-  

                                 
-  

of which, income from affiliated entities                                         
-  

                                 
-  

13. Interest income (ct.766*)                                       
529  

                          
52.561  

of which, income from affiliated entities                                         
-  

                                 
-  

14. Operating subsidy income for interest due (item 7418)                                         
-  

                                 
-  

15. Other financial income (ct.762+764+765+767+768+7615)                                  
42.541  

                        
119.068  

- of which, income from other fixed assets                                          
-  

                                 
-  

FINANCIAL INCOME - TOTAL (headings 45+47+49+50)                                  
43.070  

                        
171.629  

16. Value adjustments on financial fixed assets and financial 
investments held as current assets (headings 54-55) 

                                        
-  

                                 
-  

Expenditure (ct.686)                                         
-  

                                 
-  

Revenue (ct.786)                                         
-  

                                 
-  

13. Interest expenditure (ct.666*)                                  
31.284  

                          
39.782  
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of which, expenditure in relation to affiliated entities                                         
-  

                                 
-  

Other financial charges (ct.663+664+665+667+668)                                
134.172  

                        
133.236  

FINANCIAL EXPENDITURE - TOTAL (headings 53+56+58)                                
165.456  

                        
173.018  

FINANCIAL PROFIT OR LOSS:                                         
-  

                                 
-  

Profit (rd. 52-59)       

Loss (rd. 59-52)                                
122.386  

                            
1.389  

TOTAL REVENUE (headings 16 + 52)                           
36.527.292  

                   
45.496.914  

TOTAL EXPENDITURE (headings 42 + 59)                           
33.754.277  

                   
42.037.235  

18. GROSS PROFIT OR LOSS:                                         
-  

                                 
-  

Profit (rd. 62 - 63) 64                             
2.773.015  

            
3.459.679,38      

- Loss (rd. 63 - 62)                                         
-  

                                 
-  

19. Corporation tax (ct.691)                                
340.265  

                        
341.118  

20. Other taxes not shown under the above items (c.698)                                   
41.410  

                          
87.913  

 21.  NET PROFIT OR LOSS FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR:                                         
-  

                                 
-  

Loss (rd. 65 + 66 + 67 - 64)                                         
-  

                                 
-  

- Profit (rd. 64 - 65 - 66 - 67                             
2.391.340  

                     
3.030.649  
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15.3 ANNEX NO 3 - INDIVIDUAL BALANCE SHEET CONSULT SA CONNECTIONS AS AT DECEMBER 
2021 

Item name 01.01.2021 31.12.2021 

A. FIXED ASSETS     

I. IMOBILIZARI NECORPORALE (ct.201+203+205+206+2071+4094+208-
280-290-4904) 

       775.517          912.534  

II. IMOBILIZARI CORPORALE 
(ct.211+212+213+214+215+216+217+223+224+227+231+235+4093-
281-291-2931-2935-4903) 

       546.911          406.601  

III. FINANCIAL FIXED ASSETS (ct.261+262+263+265+267-296)        428.441       1.534.203  

FIXED ASSETS - TOTAL (rd.01+02+03)    1.750.869       2.853.338  

B.CURRENT ASSETS     

I.STOCURI (ct.301+302+303+321+322+/-
308+323+326+327+328+331+332+341+345+346+347+/-
348+351+354+356+357+358+361+/-368+371+/-378+381+-/388+4091-
391-392-393-394-395-396-397-398-din ct.4428-4901) 

                   
-  

                  -  

II. 
CREANTE1. (ct.267*-
296*+4092+411+413+418+425+4282+431**+436**+437**+4382+441**
+4424+din 
ct.4428**+444**+445+446**+447**+4482+451**+453**+456**+4582+46
1+4662+473**-491-495-496-4902+5187) 

    8.756.881     11.894.138  

2.Dividend receivables distributed during the financial year (ct.463) 0                   -  

TOTAL (rd.06a+06b)    8.756.881     11.894.138  

III. SHORT-TERM INVESTMENTS (items 501+505+506+508*+5113+5114-
591-595-596-598) 

0                   -  

IV. HOUSE AND BANK ACCOUNTS 
(ct.508*+5112+512+531+532+541+542) 

    2.364.404       7.881.549  

CURRENT ASSETS - TOTAL (headings 05+06+07+08)  11.121.285     19.775.687  
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C.ADVANCE EXPENDITURE (ct.471)(rd.11+12)            
10.969            75.471  

Amounts to be reused within one year (ct.471*)          10.969            75.471  

Amounts to be reused within a period of more than one year 
(ct.471*) 

0 0 

D. DEBTS: AMOUNTS PAYABLE WITHIN ONE YEAR 
(ct.161)+162+166+167+168-
169+269+401+403+404+405+408+419+421+423+424+426+427+4281+
431***+436***+437***+4381+441***+4423+4428***+444***+446***+446
***+4481+451***+453***+455+456***+457+4581+462+4661+473***+50
9+5186+519) 

    5.154.529       8.775.590  

E. NET CURRENT ASSETS/NET CURRENT LIABILITIES (headings 09+11-
13-20-23-26)    5.915.245     11.034.754  

F. TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES (rd.04+12+14)    7.666.114     13.888.092  

G. DEBTS: PAYABLE WITHIN ONE YEAR (ct.161)+162+166+167+168-
169+269+401+403+404+405+408+419+421+423+424+426+427+4281+
431***+436***+437***+4381+441***+4423+4428***+444***+446***+447
***+4481+451***+453***+455+456***+4581+462+4661+473***+509+51
86+519) 

    1.611.133          148.123  

H. PROVIZIOANE (ct.151) 0         268.874  

I. REVENUE IN ADVANCE (headings 19+22+25+28)          62.480            40.814  

1. Investment grants (ct.475), (rd.20+21)          62.480            40.814  

Amounts to be taken back within a period of up to one year 
(ct.475*) 

62480           40.814  

Amounts to be reused within a period of more than one year 
(ct.475*) 

0                   -  

2. Deferred income (ct.472) (rd.23+24) 0                   -  

Amounts to be reused within one year (ct.472*) 0                   -  

Amounts to be reopened within a period of more than one 
year (ct.472*) 

0                   -  

3. Prepaid income on assets received by transfer from customers 
(ct.478) (rd.26+27) 0                   -  



 

 

Pa
ge

58
 

Amounts to be reused within one year (ct.478*) 0                   -  

Amounts to be reopened within a period of more than one 
year (ct.478*) 

0                   -  

Negative goodwill (ct.2075) 0                   -  

J. CAPITAL AND RESERVES     

I. CAPITAL (rd. 30+31+32+33+34)              200          108.116  

1. Subscribed paid-in capital (ct.1012)               200          108.116  

2. Unpaid subscribed capital (ct.1011) 0                   -  

3. Assets of the Royalty (ct.1015) 0                   -  

4. Assets of national research and development institutes 
(ct.1018) 

0                   -  

5. Other equity items (item 1031) 0                   -  

II. CAPITAL PREMIUM (ct.104) 0    12.481.743  

III. REEVALUATION RESERVE (ct.105) 0                   -  

IV. RESERVE (ct.106)                 40            21.623  

Own shares (ct.109) 0                   -  

Gains related to equity instruments (item 141) 0                   -  

Losses related to equity instruments (item 149) 
 

0 

       
(325.001) 

V. REPORTED PROFIT OR LOSS(A) SOLD C(ct.117)     3.743.416                     2  

                                                                        SOLD D(ct.117) 
                   

-  
                  -  

VI. PROFIT OR LOSS AT THE END OF THE REPORTING PERIOD     

                                                                        SOLD C(ct.121)     2.311.325       1.206.196  

                                                                        SOLD D(ct.121)                    
-  

                  -  

Distribution of profit (ct.129) 
 

0 

         
(21.583) 
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SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY - TOTAL (headings 29+35+36+37-38+39-
40+41-42+43-44-45)     6.054.981     13.471.096  

Public assets (ct.1016)                     -  

Private property (ct.1017)1 0                   -  

CAPITAL - TOTAL (headings 46+47+48) (headings 04+09+10-13-16-
17-18)    6.054.981     13.471.095  

 

 

15.4 ANNEX NO 4 - PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT CONNECTIONS CONSULT SA AS AT 31.12.2021 

Name of the element Bilantier 01.01.2020-
31.12.2020 

01.01.2021-
31.12.2021 

A 1 2 

1. Net turnover (rd. 2+3-4+6)      32.345.487     31.905.005  

Sold production (ct. 701+702+703+704+705+706+708)      31.112.229     30.152.086  

Income from sale of goods (ct.707)        1.233.258       1.752.919  

Trade discounts granted (ct.709)                    -  

Income from operating subsidies on net turnover (ct.7411) 0                   -  

2.Income relating to the cost of work in progress (item 
711+712)     

Sold C 0                   -  

Sold D 0                   -  

3.Income from the production of intangible and tangible 
fixed assets (ch.721 +722) 

            81.702            67.595  

4. Income from the revaluation of tangible fixed assets 
(ct.755) 

0                   -  

5. Income from investment property (ct.725) 0                   -  

6. Revenue from operating subsidies (items 
7412+7413+7414+7415+7416+7417+7419)                    -  

Other operating revenue (ct.751+758+7815)             11.584            35.198  
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-of which, revenue from investment grants (item 7584) 2520                   -  

-of which, income from negative goodwill (item 7815) 0                   -  

REVENUE FROM OPERATIONS - TOTAL (headings 01+07-
08+09+10+11+12+13) 

     32.438.773     32.007.798  

8.a) Expenditure on raw materials and consumables 
(ct.601+ct602) 

            76.724          106.097  

Other material expenditure (ct.603+604+606+608)             13.793            16.598  

b) Other external expenditure (on energy and water) 
(heading 605) 

            84.694            17.177  

c) Expenditure on goods (ct.607)        1.147.663       1.665.961  

Trade discounts received (ct.609)                       -                    -  

9.Staff expenditure (headings 23+24)      17.990.482     18.126.442  

a) Wages and allowances (ct.641+642+643+644)      17.604.183     17.737.000  

b) Expenditure on social security and social protection 
(ct.645+ct646) 

          386.299          389.442  

10.a) Value adjustments on tangible and intangible fixed 
assets (lines 26-27)           413.499          410.934  

a.1) Expenditure (item 6811+6813+6817+of item 6818)           413.499          410.934  

a.2) Revenue (item 7813+of item 7818) 0                   -  

b) Value adjustments on current assets (lines 29-30)                       -            52.482  

b.1) Expenditure (ct.654+6814+of ct.6818)                       -            52.482  

b.2) Revenue (ct.754+7814+of ct.7818)                       -                    -  

11. Other operating expenditure (headings 32 to 37)      10.107.176       9.963.730  

11.1 Expenditure on external services (items 
611+612+613+614+615+621+622+623+624+625+626+627+628) 

       9.760.378       9.614.371  

11.2. Expenditure on other taxes, duties and similar charges; 
expenditure on transfers and contributions payable under 
special legal acts (ct.635 +6586) 

          217.882          247.846  

11.3 Environmental protection expenditure (ct.652) 0                   -  



 

 

Pa
ge

61
 

11.4 Expenditure on the revaluation of tangible fixed assets 
(item 655) 

0                   -  

11.5 Expenditure relating to disasters and similar events 
(ct.6587) 

0                   -  

11.6 Other expenditure (ct.651+6581+6582+6583+6584+6588)           128.916          101.513  

Adjustments to provisions (rd.40-41)                       -          268.874  

-expenses (ct.6812) 0         268.874  

-Waste (ct.7812) 0                   -  

OPERATING EXPENDITURE - TOTAL (RD. 17 to 20-
21+22+25+28+31+39)      29.834.031     30.628.296  

OPERATING PROFIT OR LOSS     

-Profit (rd16-42)        2.604.742       1.379.502  

-Loss (rd.42-46)                       -                    -  

12. Income from participating interests (ct.7611+7612+7613)             160.814                    -  

-of which, income from affiliated entities  0                   -  

13. Interest income (ct.766) 528           52.544  

-of which, income from affiliated entities 0                   -  

14. Income from operating subsidies for interest due (ct.7418) 0                   -  

15. Other financial income (items 
762+764+765+767+768+7615) 

            38.680          115.023  

-of which, income from other financial fixed assets (item 7615) 0                   -  

FINANCIAL INCOME - TOTAL (headings 45+47+49+50)           200.022          167.567  

16. Value adjustments on financial fixed assets and financial 
investments held as current assets (headings 54-55) 

                      -                    -  

-expenses (ct.686)                    -  

-Waste(ct.786)                    -  

17. Interest-related expenditure (ct.666)             31.284            39.782  

-of which, spent in relation to affiliated entities                       -                    -  

18. Other financial charges (ct.663+664+665+667+668)           121.890            95.009  
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FINANCIAL EXPENDITURE - TOTAL (headings 53+56+58)           153.174          134.791  

FINANCIAL PROFIT OR LOSS(A)     

-Profit (rd. 52-59)             46.848            32.776  

- Loss (rd. 59-52)                       -                    -  

TOTAL REVENUE (headings 16+52)      32.638.795     32.175.364  

TOTAL EXPENDITURE (headings 42+59)      29.987.205     30.763.086  

19. GROSS PROFIT OR LOSS(A)     

- Profit (rd. 62-63)        2.651.590       1.412.278  

- Loss (rd. 63-62)                       -                    -  

20. Corporation tax (ct.691)           340.265          206.082  

21. Tax specific to certain activities (ct.695) 0                   -  

22. Other taxes not shown under items above (c.698) 0                   -  

23. NET PROFIT OR LOSS(A) FOR THE REPORTING PERIOD    

-Profit (rd. 64-65-66-67-68)        2.311.325       1.206.196  

-Loss (rd. 65+66+67+68-64)                       -                    -  
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15.5 APPENDIX 5 - INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT 
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15.6 ANNEX NO 6- BALANCE SHEET OMFP 1802/2014 CONNECTIONS CONSULT SA DECEMBER 
2021 
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Headquarters : Bucharest, Sector 1, 75-77 Buzesti Street, Et. 14 

Com.Reg.Nr: J40/11864/2005 

C.U.I.: RO17753763 

Social capital : 108.116 lei 

 

CONNECTION CONSULT S.A. presents the following notes to the financial statements as at 31.12.2021: 

1. COMPANY PRESENTATION 

CONNECTIONS CONSULT SA. is a European company of innovative technology companies, founded in 2005 in 

Bucharest under Law 31/1990 and is registered at the Trade Register under number J40/11864/2005. 

The company belongs to the category of medium-sized entities as defined in the European Commission's SME 

Definition User Manual. 

These financial statements are our own and do not belong to a group. 

 
2. ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES, POLICIES AND METHODS  

 

Principles underlying the preparation of financial statements 

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management and have been prepared in 
accordance with the requirements of Romanian accounting standards, namely Accounting Law no. 82/1991, 
republished and Order of the Minister of Public Finance ("OMF") no. 1802/2014, as amended.  

 

These regulations partially transpose the provisions of Directive 2013/34/EU of the European Parliament and of 
the Council on the annual financial statements, consolidated financial statements and related reports of certain 
types of undertakings amending Directive 2006/43/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council and 
repealing Council Directives 78/660/EEC and 83/349/EEC, published in the Official Journal of the European Union 
No L 182 of 29 June 2013. 

 

OMF No 1802/2014 as amended is harmonised with European Directives IV and VII and differs from International 
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Financial Reporting Standards. As a result, these financial statements are not in line with International Financial 
Reporting Standards. 

These financial statements, prepared in accordance with OMF no. 1802/2014 as amended, must not be used by 
third parties or by users of the financial statements who are not familiar with OMF no. 1802/2014 applicable in 
Romania. 

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the principles regulated by OMF no. 
1802/2014 with subsequent amendments as follows: 

1) Business continuity principle.  

2) Principle of permanence of methods.  

3) The principle of prudence. 

4) Accrual accounting principle.  

5) Principle of intangibility. 

6) The principle of separate valuation of assets and liabilities.  

7)The principle of non-compensation.  

8) Accounting for and presentation of items in the balance sheet and income statement taking into account 
the economic substance of the transaction or commitment in question (economic over legal); 

9) Valuation principle at acquisition cost or production cost.  

10) Threshold of significance principle.  

Business continuity 

These financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis which assumes that the Company will 
continue in normal operation for the foreseeable future without becoming unable to continue as a going concern 
and without a significant curtailment of operations.  

Comparative situations 

For each balance sheet item, profit and loss account item, and where applicable, for the statement of changes in 
equity and the cash flow statement, the amount relating to the corresponding item for the previous financial year 
is shown.  

Using estimates 

Statutory accounting records do not always provide sufficient information to accurately determine the adjustments 
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and disclosures required, which is why estimates have been made based on the best available information. 
Although these individual estimates are subject to some degree of uncertainty, the overall effect on the financial 
statements is considered immaterial. 

 

Correction of accounting errors 

The correction of accounting errors is made against the retained earnings. Prior period errors are omissions or 
misstatements contained in the entity's financial statements for one or more prior periods resulting from an error 
in using or not using reliable information that: 

- were available at the time the financial statements for those periods were approved for issue 
- could reasonably have been obtained and taken into account in the preparation and presentation of 

these financial statements.   

 

The accounting records on which these financial statements are based are made in RON ("RON") at historical 
cost, except for those situations where fair value has been used, in accordance with the Company's accounting 
policies and with OMF 1802/2014 as amended. 

 

The following specific accounting policies have been applied by the Company: 

Tangible fixed assets 

(i) Cost 

Tangible fixed assets are initially valued at cost determined in accordance with the valuation rules of OMF. 
1802/2014, depending on the method of entry into the unit. 

Tangible fixed assets are shown in the balance sheet at cost less accumulated depreciation. 

The cost of fixed assets acquired consists of the purchase price and the value of other directly attributable costs 
incurred in transporting the assets to the current location and the cost of site development.   

In the context of the sale of fixed assets, the gain or loss on the sale or retirement of an asset is determined as the 
difference between the proceeds from the sale of the asset and its net book value. Realised gains or losses are 
recognised in the Profit and Loss Account. 

(ii) Depreciation 

Tangible and intangible fixed assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives from 
the time they are brought into use. 
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The main useful lives used for the various categories of property, plant and equipment are:  

• Technical installations (electronic computers and peripheral equipment): 3 years  

• Means of transport: 4-6 years 

• Tools, devices, instruments and tool kits: 2-10 years 

• Furniture, office equipment and others: 2-11 years 

• Intangible fixed assets 8 Years or according to the useful life 

 

Intangible assets 

An intangible asset arising from development (or from the development phase of an internal project) shall be 
recognised if, and only if, an entity can demonstrate all of the following: 

a)the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it is available for use or sale; 

(b)its intention to complete the intangible asset and use or sell it; 

c)its ability to use or sell the intangible asset; 

d)how the intangible asset will generate probable future economic benefits. Among other things, the entity can 
demonstrate the existence of a market for the output generated by the intangible asset or for the intangible asset 
itself or, if it is expected to be used internally, the usefulness of the intangible asset; 

(e)the availability of adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the development of the 
intangible asset and to use or sell it; 

(f)its ability to measure reliably the costs attributable to the intangible asset during its development. 

Intangible assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives from the time they are 
put into service, so that the cost decreases to the estimated residual value over their estimated useful lives.  

 

 

Depreciation of fixed assets 

The Company makes provisions for impairment of fixed assets, other than deferred tax and financial assets, 
whenever their carrying amount exceeds their recoverable amount. The recoverable amount of an asset is defined 
as the higher of an asset's net selling price and its value in use. The value in use of an asset is the present value of 
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the estimated future cash flows expected from the continuing use of that asset and from its sale. 

Stocks 

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Net realisable value is estimated on the basis 
of the selling price in the ordinary course of business less costs to complete and selling costs. Stocks are valued 
by the company on the basis of the purchase cost principle. 

Claims 

Receivables are valued at their estimated realisable value and, following analysis of the recoverability of certain 
receivables, insignificant provisions have been made for doubtful debts. For doubtful receivables an estimate was 
made based on an analysis of all outstanding amounts at the balance sheet date.  

Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents include liquid assets and comprise cash in hand and cash in bank accounts. 

Debts 

Debts are recorded at historical cost in RON. The exchange rate used to convert debts into foreign currency is either 
that indicated by the customs authorities for imports, or that valid at the date of invoicing of services, or that valid at the 
date of the transaction according to the relevant regulations. 

 

At the end of each year, all foreign currency liabilities are revalued using the exchange rate valid at the end of the year 
and posted by the National Bank of Romania ("NBR"). All resulting gains or losses are included in the profit and loss 
account. 

Provisions 

Provisions are established when there is a precise cause of an economic event and there is uncertainty as to the extent 
to which that event will materialise. The Company recognises provisions in accordance with the accounting policies in 
force at the date of preparation of the financial statements. 

 

A provision will be recognised in the accounts when the following conditions are cumulatively met:  

- The company has a present obligation arising from a previous event;  

- It is likely that an outflow of resources will be required to meet this obligation;  

- A reliable estimate of the value of the obligation can be made.  
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The company makes provisions for: - litigation, fines and penalties, indemnities, damages and other uncertain 
liabilities; - expenses related to service activity during the warranty period and other expenses related to the 
warranty given to customers.  

Provisions are reviewed at each balance sheet date and adjusted to reflect the current best estimate. If an outflow 
of resources is no longer probable for the settlement of an obligation, the provision shall be reversed to income. 

Loans 
 
Short and long-term loans are stated at the amount outstanding at the balance sheet date.  
 
Share capital 

The subscribed and paid-up share capital was recorded separately in the accounts, on the basis of the legal entity's 
articles of association and the supporting documents relating to capital payments. 

Revenue recognition 

Revenue is recorded on an accrual basis and is exclusive of VAT and discounts. The Company's income excludes 
value added tax and comprises the value of goods sold and services rendered, as well as gains from any source, 
such as sales of fixed assets. 

Interest income is recognised periodically on a pro-rata basis as the income is earned, based on the accounting 
for accruals. 

Connections Consult S.A. recognizes the following types of income: 

 

● Recognition of operating income - services rendered, income from the production of fixed assets, other 
operating income; 

● Revenue recognition for Time and Material contracts - T&M contracts are contracts that generally involve 
billing revenue based on units of time performed (hours, days, months) at negotiated rates per unit of time. 
Revenue relating to T&M contracts is recognised as services are rendered and the related costs are 
incurred, based on billable time, at a rate negotiated with the beneficiaries; 

● Revenue Recognition for Fixed Price Contracts - A fixed price contract is a contract where the price is usually 
not subject to adjustment due to costs incurred, does not depend on the resources used or the time 
allocated to the project. It takes into account the value of the milestones specified in the contract as 
occurring during the life of the project and until completion.  

● Revenue recognition for resold service contracts - Resold service revenue is revenue generated under 
contracts involving the subcontracting of services to third parties, legal entities, transferring partial 
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responsibility for the delivery that the company charges from the end customer to the subcontractor. They 
are recognised at the time the services are performed by the party performing the services in question. 

● Revenue recognition from maintenance/recurring service contracts - Revenue generated under 
maintenance contracts is negotiated in a fixed amount over a period of time (at least one year), invoiced to 
customers on a quarterly or monthly basis and recognised monthly in the period in which the service is 
provided. 

● Recognition of revenue from proprietary software sales contracts - Revenue from the sale of licenses for 
the use of proprietary software applications is recognised when the right to use the license is transferred 
from the user to the customer. 

● Recognition of rental income - Revenue from royalties, rents are recognised on an accrual basis, as per the 
contract. 

 

Operating expenses 

Operating expenses are recognised in the income statement in the period in which they are incurred. 

Contributions for employees 

The company pays contributions to the State Budget for social security, social pension and unemployment benefit 
according to the levels established by law and in force during the year, calculated on the basis of gross salaries.  

The amount of payroll expenses is recorded in the income statement in the same period as other related company 
contributions 

 

 

Financial result 

This includes interest payable on loans, interest receivable on cash at banks and term deposits made, and 
exchange rate differences. The accrual principle is followed for the recognition of these items. 

 

Borrowing costs 

Interest expense is recognised in the income statement when it arises. 
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Corporate income tax 

Income tax is calculated on the basis of the result for the year adjusted for various non-deductible items. It is 
calculated using the corporation tax rate in force at the balance sheet date. The tax rate for 2021 is 16%. 

 

Financial leasing 

Leases for tangible fixed assets in which the Company assumes all the risks and rewards of ownership are classified 
as finance leases. Finance leases are capitalised at the estimated present value of payments. Each payment is 
apportioned between the principal and interest element to provide a constant interest rate over the repayment 
period.  Amounts due are included in short-term or long-term liabilities.  

 

The interest element is charged to the profit and loss account over the life of the contract. Assets held under finance 
leases are capitalised and depreciated over their useful lives. 

 

Transactions in foreign currency 

Transactions denominated in foreign currency are recorded in the accounts at the exchange rate on the transaction 
date. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated into RON at the exchange 
rate on the balance sheet date. The exchange rate at 31 December 2021 was RON 4.9481 to EUR 1. The exchange 
rate at 31 December 2020 was RON 4.8694 to EUR 1. 

 

All differences arising from the settlement and translation of foreign currency amounts are recognised in the 
income statement in the year in which they arise. Realised and unrealised losses are expensed, including those on 
loans. 

 
3. FIXED ASSETS  

Change in gross value, depreciation and net book value during the financial year ending 31 December 2021: 

• Intangible assets 
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• Tangible fixed assets 

 

 

 

Elemente de imobilizari
Sold initial Cresteri Sold Final

Total (col.5 =1+2+3)
1 2 3

I. Imobilizari Necorporale
Cheltuieli de constituire si cheltuieli de dezvoltare 0 0 0 0 0 0
Alte imobilizari 926,019       214,696.61 0 0 0 1,140,716                       
Avansuri acordate pentru imobilizari necorporale 0 0 0 0 0 0
Active Necorporale de explorare si evaluare a resurselor 
minerale
Total (rd.01 la 04) 926,019       214,697     -        -        -               1,140,716                       

Reduceri
Valori Brute

Din care: dezmembrari 

Elemente de imobilizari Sold initial Amortizare in cursul anuluiAmortizare aferenta imobilizarilor scoase din evidentaAmortizare la sfarsitul anului (Col.9 = 6+7+8)
Sold Final

Total Din care: dezmembrari si casari(col.5 =1+2+3)
1 2 3

I. Imobilizari Necorporale
Cheltuieli de constituire si cheltuieli de dezvoltare 0 0 0 0 0
Alte imobilizari 150,502       77,680       0 0 228182.01
Active Necorporale de explorare si evaluare a resurselor 
minerale

-              -            0 0 0

Total (rd.19 + 20 + 21) 150,502       77,680       0 0 228,182                                
Valoarea Neta Contabila 775,517       -        912,534                         

Elemente de imobilizari
Sold initial Cresteri Sold Final

Total (col.5 =1+2+3)

II. Imobilizari Corporale
Terenuri 0 0 0 0 0 0
Constructii 711,267         0 0 0 0 711,267                         
Instalatii tehnice si masini 394,833         128,453     0 0 0 523,286                         
Alte instalatii, utilaje si mobilier 232,855         64,491 0 0 0 297,347                         
Investitii imobiliare 0 0 0 0 0 -                                
Active Corporale si explorare si evaluare a resurselor 
minerale

0 0 0 0 0 -                                

Active biologice productive 0 0 0 0 0 -                                
Imobilizari corporale in curs de executie 0 0 0 0 0 -                                
Investitii imobiliare in curs de executie 0 0 0 0 0 -                                
Avansuri acrodate pentru imobilizari corporale 0 0 0 0 0 0
Total 1,338,955      192,945     -        -        -               1,531,900                       

Reduceri
Valori Brute

Din care: dezmembrari 
si casari
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Fixed assets are recorded at acquisition cost and are depreciated on a straight-line basis at the depreciation rates 
established in accordance with the provisions of Law 15 of 1994, Law no. 227/2015 and H.G. no. 2139 / 2004. 

Group " Construction " includes : 

Office space refurbishment 

The normal operating lives of the main fixed assets used during 2021 by the Company are : 

 

Name of fixed assets Duration (months/years)           

Office space 36-59 Months depending on contract duration    

Electronic computers and peripherals 2 -4 Years 

Means of transport for persons 4 -6 years old 

Furniture 3-4 Years 

 

 

 

 

 

Elemente de imobilizari Sold initial
Amortizare 
in cursul 
anului

Amortizare 
aferenta 
imobilizarilor 
scoase din 
evidenta

Sold Final

Total
Din care: 
dezmembrari si 
casari

(col.5 =1+2+3)

1 2 3
II. Imobilizari corporale
Terenuri 0 0 0 0 0                                              -   
Constructii          382,624 219,942.16 0 0 0                                     602,566 
Instalatii tehnice si masini          288,051 56,564.94 0 0 0                                     344,616 
Alte instalatii, utilaje si mobilier 121,369 56,747.53 0 0 0                                     178,116 
Investitii imobiliare 0 0 0 0 0                                              -   
Active corporale de explorare si evaluare a resurselor 
minerale

0 0 0 0 0                                              -   

Active biologice productie 0 0 0 0 0                                              -   
Total          792,044       333,255                      -                            -                    -                                    1,125,299 
Valoarea Neta Contabila          546,911                                     406,601 

Amortizare la sfarsitul anului (Col.9 = 6+7+8)
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4. STOCKS 

 

Stocks 
Balance on  
1 January 2021   

Balance at  
31 December 
2021 

 
      

Marfuri  -  - 

 

Total -  - 

 

The company does not hold stocks as of 31.12.2021 

 

5. CREATIVE 

   As at 31.12.2021 and 2020, respectively, the Company's receivables have the following structure: 

Lei 

Sold to 

Liquidity term 31 December 
2021 

 
under 1 year over 1 year 

Commercial creditor 7,550,985.39 7,128,467.74 422,517.65* 

Supplier Advances (409) 0.00 0.00 - 

Salary advances, Claims with the state 
budget and social insurance 

89,032.68 89,032.68 - 

Other receivables (Sundry debtors) 488,914.29 488,914.29 - 

Receivables from affiliated entities 3,590,841.86 3,590,841.86 - 

Non-current receivables  174,364 174,364** - 

Total 11,894,138.22 11,471,620.57 422,517.65 
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*The balance in the amount of 422.517,65 RON representing receivables older than 1 year, is subject to 
protocols and agreements for deferral and compensation agreed between the company and its partners. We 
estimate that they will be extinguished by the end of the financial year ending 31 December 2022. 

 

** The balance of 174,364 RON represents the fixed assets receivables recorded as at 31 December 2021 in 
the accounting account 2678 (Fixed assets) which are less than 1 year old. The remaining amounts existing in the 
balance as at 31 December 2021 in the account 2678 are shown in the category "Financial fixed assets" in the 
Balance Sheet of the company as their recovery is made in a period longer than 1 year. 

 

Lei 

Sold to 
Liquidity term 

31 December 2020 
 

under 1 
year 

over 1 
year 

Commercial creditor 5,884,875 5,884,875 - 

Supplier Advances(409) 11,678 11,678 - 

Salary advances, Claims 
with the state budget and 
social insurance 

148,230 148,230 - 

Other receivables (Sundry 
debtors) 

493,354 493,354 - 

Receivables from affiliated 
entities 

1,481,940 1,481,940 - 

Non-current receivables 992,300 992,300 - 

Total 9,012,377 9,012,377 - 

 

6. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 

 

Sold to 

 

Sold to 

1 January 2021 
31 December 
2021 
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Bank accounts in lei 342,524  7,849,258.27 

Bank accounts in lei equivalent 
currency 

1,639,250  21,370.69 

Cash at home 382,630  10,919.88 

Treasury advances -  - 

Other values -  - 

 
2,364,404  7,881,549 

Total 

 

7. DEBTS 

As at 31.12.2021 and 2020, respectively, the Company's liabilities have the following structure: 

Lei 

Sold to 
Due date 

31 December 

2021 Under 1 year Over 1 year 

Trade debts 2,541,054   2,541,054   - 

Debts to staff           726,125      726,125  - 

Debts to the state budget, social security bug. and 
fd.spec. 

        1,034,597   1,034,597   - 

Other debts        2,523,719   2,523,719  - 

Leasing           163,243        15,120     148,123  

Medium-term loan                    -   -  - 
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Short-term loan        1,975,790   1,975,790  - 

Total         8,964,527     8,816,404      148,123  

 

The balance in the amount of RON 2,523,719 includes the dividends declared and outstanding as at 31.12.2021 
for shareholders registered in the company's records before 30.06.2021 in the amount of RON 1,965,759. The 
balance also includes the remaining payments to be made for the acquisition of SC Brusch S.A. shares during 2021 
in the amount of RON 500,000. These are to be realised by the end of 2022. 

Lei 

Sold to 
Due date 

31 December 

2020 Under 1 year Over 1 year 

Trade debts              1,155,695       1,155,695  - 

Debts to staff                 626,536         626,536  - 

Debts to the state budget, social 
security bug. and fd.spec. 

             3,139,395       3,139,395  - 

Other debts                  62,480           62,480  - 

Leasing                  98,945   -  98,945 

Medium-term loan                         -   -  - 

Short-term loan              1,580,440       1,580,440  - 

Total              6,663,490       6,564,546                  98,945  

 

The company has 3 leasing contracts as at 31.12.2021 as shown below: 
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Leasing Company Object leasing Date 
contract 

Price of the 
purchased 
good 

Advances Financed 
value 

Annual 
interest 
rate (%) 

Sold 
31.12.2021 

(without VAT) (without VAT) (without 
VAT) 

PORSCHE LEASING 
ROMANIA IFN 

AUTOTURISM 26.10.2016 € 29,708.00 € 6,536.00 € 23,172.00 7.66 37,560.44 lei 

UNICREDIT 
LEASING 
CORPORATION 

AUTOTURISM 28.11.2017 € 40,752.00 € 8,965.44 € 31,786.56 Euribor 
3M + 
2.99 

61,384.26 lei 

 TOYO MOTOR 
LEASING IFN SA 

 AUTOTURISM 05.10.2021  € 25,966.39  € 3,894.96  € 30,379.30    106,781.14lei 

 

Total 

      163,242.77 
lei 

 

Loans 

In December 2021, the Company increased the credit line contracted with Banca Transilvania by RON 1,670,000, 
obtaining better conditions (including a better interest rate - ROBOR 3M + 1.75% - fixed margin). The Company 
also closed the credit line contracted with ProCredit Bank. In the table below is made a summary of the loans/lines 
of credit in force as at 31 December 2021. 

 

Banking Product type* 
Destination 
facilitated 

Amount granted 
(incl. supplements) 

Date of 
granting 

Expiry date 
 Annual 
interest 
rate 

Repayment 
plan type 
(equal 
principal/equal 
instalments, 
regular/non-
regular - 
details) 

Guarantees 
(description, 
owner, assessed 
market value) 

Used 
31.12.2021 

TRANSILVANIA 
BANK 

CREDIT LINE + SGB 
WORKING 
CAPITAL 

RON 2,000,000  
19.03.2018, 
21.12.2021 
(additional) 

27.12.2022 
Robor 3M 
+ 1.75 

interest 
payment 

Movable 
mortgage 
receipts and 
balances+ctr 
surety 

8,704.74 

ROMANIAN 
BANK 

CREDIT LINE IMM 
INVEST 

WORKING 
CAPITAL 

RON 2,000,000.00  08.10.2020 23.08.2023 
Robor 3M 
+ 2.5%  

interest 
payment* 

Mortgage 
balances + 
Movable 

1,967,085.75 
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mortgage 
deposit balance 
400.000 lei 

 

Guarantees associated with loans: 

The guarantees associated with the loans are highlighted in the table above. They remain in force until all the 
guarantor's obligations under the guarantee contracts have been met in full. 

 

8. PROVISIONS FOR RISKS AND CHARGES 

As at 31.12.2021, a provision in the amount of 268,874 lei has been set up for the leave not taken by the company's 
employees up to the reporting date. Depending on the context, the provision may be revised, and there are 
significant premises for its partial or full reversal. 

 

9. CAPITAL AND RESERVES 

 On 31.12.2021, the share capital of the Company is 108,116 lei, with a number of 1,081,157 shares and a nominal 
value of 0.1 lei/share, held in the following proportions:  

 

Physical Person:   BOGDAN LIVIU FLOREA   74.8365% 

Legal entity:   CERTINVEST MANAGEMENT  1.0053% 

Natural and legal persons:  SHAREHOLDERS LIST    24.1582% 

 

The change in the amount, structure of the share capital and nature of the equity securities occurred following the 
listing of the Company on the Stock Exchange in July 2021.  

10. TURNOVER 

The net turnover as of 31.12.2021 is 31.905.005 lei equivalent to 6.447,930 Euro at the closing exchange rate of 
BNR 31 December 2021, 4.9481 RON/EUR. 

The operating income earned during 2021 has the following structure: 
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Operating Income Component Dec'21 

  READ 

Sale Licenses 1,746,740 

Active ceding  13,517 

BPO Services 18,174,675 

Internal software development 
services 

67,595 

RPA services 853,908 

Software implementation services 5,255,429 

ITO Services  5,546,755 

Outsourcing Services 250,502 

Subcontract rental 70,817 

Sale of equipment 6,178 

Grant Income 21,681 

Total Operating Income 32,007,797 

 

11. PROFIT SHARING 

                                                                                                                                 -  

Destination- lei - 2020 2021 

Profit to be distributed 2.311.325 1.206.196 

- legal reserve - 21.583 

- coverage of accounting loss - - 

- dividend - - 

- other allocations own sources of financing - - 
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Retained profit for the year 2.311.325 1.184.613 

 

At the end of the financial year 2021, the Company achieved a gross accounting profit in the amount of 1,412,278 
lei , as the difference between total revenues of 32,175,364 lei and total expenses of 30,763,086 lei . 

The non-deductible expenses of the company were in the amount of 644,946 lei, the taxable fiscal profit being 
in the amount of 1,829,559 lei, after deduction of the legal reserves constituted on 31 December 2021. 

The gross profit tax calculated was in the amount of 292,729.57 lei from which the amount of 58,545.91 lei was 
deducted representing the maximum amount allowed by the tax legislation. The company benefited from a bonus 
according to GEO 153/2020 in the amount of 28,102 lei. Thus the resulting net expense with income tax as at 31 
December 2021 is 206,082 lei. 

Following the calculation of the corporate income tax as at 31 December 2021, the net profit of the Company is 
1,206,196 lei, being an undistributed amount at the balance sheet date.  

At the date of signing the financial statements, no distributions from the profit for 2021 have been decided. 

The Company has not distributed and paid interim dividends from 2021 profits. 

12. ECONOMIC AND FINANCIAL INDICATORS           

 
 I. LIQUIDITY INDICATORS 

  

 
 

    

 
 Current Liquidity   2020 2021 

A 
 

Current Assets 
 

      
11,121,285  

      
19,775,687  

B 
 

Current Liabilities 
 

        
5,154,529  

        
8,775,590  

 
 A/B 

 
2.16 2.25 

 
 

    

 
 II. RISK INDICATORS 

   

 
 

    

 
 Degree of indebtedness   2020 2021 
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A  Borrowed capital 
 

1,679,384.45 2,139,032.59 

B 
 

Own Capital 
 

        
6,054,981  

      
13,471,096  

 
 A/B 

 
                0.28                  0.16  

 
 

    

 
 Degree of Interest Coverage   2020 2021 

A 
 Profit before payment of interest and 

corporation tax  
 

        
2,604,742  

        
1,379,502  

B 
 

Interest-related expenditure  
 

           
153,174  

           
134,791  

 
 A/B 

 
                   17                     10  

 
 

    

 
 

    

 
 III. ACTIVITY EFFICIENCY INDICATORS 

 

 
 

    

 
 Customer Balance Turnover Speed   2020 2021 

A 
 

Average Customer Sales 
 

        
5,884,875  

        
6,717,930  

B 
 

Net Turnover 
 

      
32,345,487  

      
31,905,005  

 
 A/B X 365 DAYS 

 
                   66                     77  

 
 

    

 
 

    

 
 Balance Rotation Speed    2020 2021 

A 
 

Average Balance Suppliers 
 

        
1,139,357  

        
1,831,971  
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B 
 

Cost of Services Sold 
 

      
29,834,031  

      
30,359,222  

 
 A/B X 365 DAYS 

 
                   14                     22  

 
 

    

 
 IV. PROFITABILITY INDICATORS 

 

 
 

    

 
 Net Profit Rate   2020 2021 

A 
 

Net Profit  
 

        
2,311,325  

        
1,206,196  

B 
 

Net turnover 
 

      
32,345,487  

      
31,905,005  

 
 A/B 

 
7% 4% 

 
 

    

 
 Return on Capital Employed 2020 2021 

A 
 Profit before payment of interest and 

corporate income tax 
        
2,604,742  

        
1,379,502  

B 
 

Total assets minus current liabilities 
        
7,666,114  

      
13,888,092  

 
 A/B 

 
34% 10% 

 

 

 

I. Liquidity indicators 

Current liquidity indicator (working capital indicator), expresses how many times current liabilities are included in 
current assets 

The values obtained (recommended values around 2), reflect a very good ability to cover current liabilities from 
current assets, and mainly from receivables and cash. 
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II. Risk indicators 

The degree of indebtedness of the equity capital expresses how many times the borrowed capital (loans for a 
period longer than one year) is included in the equity capital and reflects the financing structure of the company 
at the end of the financial year.  

The interest cover indicator reflects how many times interest expenses can be covered from profit before interest 
and tax. The lower the value of the indicator, the riskier the company's position.  

 

III. Indicators of (management) performance 

The turnover speed of the receivables balance expresses the number of days until the date when debtors pay 
their debts to the company and thus shows the effectiveness of the company in collecting its debts.  

The turnover speed of the supplier balance expresses the number of days of credit that the Company obtains 
from its suppliers. 

 

IV. Profitability indicators 

Return on capital employed is the return the Company earns on the money invested in the business. Committed 
capital refers to the money invested in the Company by shareholders and long-term creditors and includes equity 
and long-term debt. 

 

13. INFORMATION ON EMPLOYEES AND MEMBERS OF THE ADMINISTRATIVE, MANAGEMENT AND 
SUPERVISORY BODIES 

 

At the end of 2021, the average number of employees of the Company was 209 and the actual number of 
employees existing at the end of the period was 239. 

On 31.12.2020 the average number of employees was 212 and the actual number of employees at the end of the 
period was 242. 

The structure of staff by category was as follows: 
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By number: 

Categories Staff 
Count of Categorie 
personal 

Administrative staff  2 

Personal BPO 169 

Management staff  12 

Accounting staff  3 

Personal Hr 2 

Personal IT 6 

ITO Staff 36 

Personal Marketing 1 

Staff recruitment 6 

Sales staff  2 

Grand Total 239 

 

  

Expenditure on salaries and related contributions was as follows: 

 

Lei 2020 2021 

Expenditure on staff salaries (including 
meal vouchers) 17.604.183 17.737.000 

Expenditure on insurance and social 
protection 386.299 389.442 

Total 17.990.482 18.126.442 

         

 In 2021, the Company granted meal vouchers in the amount of 428,487 lei  
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There were no fees paid to administrators and no management services. 

   

14. OPERATING RESULT 

  

Indicator Balance 
sheet 
form 

Exercise Exercise 

F02 Previous 

2020 

Current 

2021 

1.Net turnover Rd 01 32.345.487 31.905.005 

2.Cost of goods sold and services rendered (3+4+5 ) - 29.834.031 30.359.222 

3.Core activity expenditure Rd 42-32-
33-37-39 

19.726.855 20.395.692 

Other operating expenditure Rd 31 10.107.176 9.963.730 

5.Indirect production costs - - - 

6.Gross result on net turnover (1-2) - 2.511.456 1.545.583 

7. Adjustments to provisions - - 268.874 

8. Other operating income  Rd 12+13 93.286 102.793 

9. Operating result (6-7+8) - 2.604.742 1.379.502 

 

15. OTHER INFORMATION 

15.1. Commitments given and received 

In order to guarantee the obligation to repay the short-term credit line IMM Invest contracted with Banca 
Romaneasca for the current operating activity, the company has carried out a mortgage on the balance + a 
movable mortgage on the balance of the deposit of 400.000 lei. 

15.2. Related and affiliated parties 
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CONNECTIONS CONSULT S.R.L presents the following turnover and balances resulting from transactions with 
group companies  

INTRAGROUP 
CONNECTIONS 
CONSULT 

Sales 2021 
to: 

Explanations SALES: Purchases 
2021 from : 

Explanation of the 
ACQUISITIONS: 

Credit 
balance 
2021 of 
the : 

Debt 
balance 
2021 to: 

OUTSOURCING 
SUPPORT SERVICES 
S.R.L 

436.009,00 -- 170.513,25 Monthly services 483.760 240.193 

Connections 
Technologies 

215.991,60 Software Rentals & 
Licenses and 
Software 
Development 

1.701.141,06 Sofrtware 
Implementation 
Services 

467.563 - 

 

Settlement with Associates as at 31.12.2021 (account 4511) 

Cont  Dec-21 
Sold 31.12.2021 

  debit credit 

4511 Connections Technologies 2,708,302.18 868,647.06 3,309,998.64 

4511 Connections Consult Serbia 29,247.00 0.00 40,843.22 

4511 Connections Consult Bulgaria 0.00 0.00 0.00 

4511 OSSR 762,000.00 762,000.00 0.00 

4511 Brusch 240,000.00 0.00 240,000.00 

Total     
                    
3,590,842  

 

Disputes 

The company has no pending litigation in which it is a defendant.  

Other information 

Rent expenses  

Rent expenses, recorded in account 612, amounting to 478,330 lei, represent the cost of renting the premises 
where the Company has its headquarters as well as car rentals. 
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Audit expenses  

In compliance with the provisions of OMFP 1802/2014 in conjunction with the AeRO Stock Exchange regulations, 
the company has entered into an audit services contract with SC Argus Audit for the audit of the financial 
statements for the financial year ending 31 December 2021.  

In 2021 the company did not exceed the size criteria for reporting the respective simplified financial statements: 

a) total assets: 17.500.000 lei; 

 b) net turnover: 35.000.000 lei;  

(c) average number of employees during the financial year: 50,  

The company has prepared annual financial statements which comprise: 

 1. balance sheet (code 10); 

 2. profit and loss account (code 20); 

 3. notes to the annual financial statements 

 They are accompanied by the "Information data" form (code 30) and the "Fixed assets situation" form (code 40) 

 

The contractual costs for the audit activity of the company, according to the Order of the Minister of Public Finance 
no. 1802/2014, as amended for the financial year ending on 31 December 2021 derive from the audit contract no. 
AUD 01 / 20.01.2022. 

The company has concluded an accounting services contract with Global Accounting Profesional S.A.  

Taxation 

S.C. CONNECTIONS CONSULT S.A. is from a fiscal point of view a payer of income tax, and in 2021 it obtained a 
gross profit in the amount of 1.412.278 lei. The calculated income tax is 206,082 lei and the net profit of the 
Company is 1,206,196 lei. 

The structure of the income and expenses composing the gross profit in the amount of 1.412.278 lei for the year 
2021 is as follows: 

REVENUE - total, of which: 32.175.364 
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• Operating income 32.007.798 

• Financial income 167.567 

 

EXPENDITURE - total, of which: 30.763.086 

  

• Operating expenses 30.628.296 

• Financial expenses 134.791 

 

Income tax expenses = 206.082 lei 

Net profit = 1.206.196 lei 

Romania's tax system is in a phase of consolidation and harmonisation with European legislation. In this respect, 
there are still different interpretations of tax legislation.  In certain situations, the tax authorities may treat certain 
aspects differently, calculating additional taxes and duties and the related interest and late payment penalties. 

 

According to the tax legislation, interest and late payment penalties are charged on late payment of tax 
obligations. Law no. 207/2015 on the Tax Procedure Code, which entered into force on 1 January 2016, provides 
for an interest rate of 0.02% for each day of delay and a late payment penalty rate of 0.01% for each day of delay. 
These percentages applied throughout fiscal year 2021. 

In addition, the Romanian Government has a number of agencies authorized to audit (control) companies 
operating on Romanian territory. These controls are similar to tax audits in other countries, and may cover not only 
tax issues but also other legal and regulatory issues of interest to these agencies. In Romania, the tax year remains 
open for tax audits for 5 years.  

The Company's management believes that the tax liabilities included in these financial statements are appropriate. 

Environment 

Romania is currently in a period of rapid harmonization of environmental legislation with current European 
Economic Community legislation. As of December 31, 2021, the Company has not recorded any liabilities related 
to anticipated costs, including legal and consulting fees, studies, design and implementation of environmental 
remediation plans.  
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As the Company has no assets or other assets on its balance sheet at the reporting date that expose it to a potential 
risk or need to comply with certain legal requirements emanating from environmental legislation, the Company 
does not consider the costs associated with environmental issues to be significant.  

Transfer price 

Romanian tax legislation has contained rules on transfer pricing between related persons since 2000. The current 
legislative framework defines the "market value" principle for transactions between affiliated persons, as well as 
the transfer pricing methods.  According to the relevant tax legislation, the tax valuation of a related party 
transaction is based on the concept of market price for that transaction. Based on this concept, transfer prices must 
be adjusted to reflect the market prices that would have been established between entities between which there 
is no affiliation and which act independently on the basis of "normal market conditions".As a result, it is expected 
that the tax authorities will initiate thorough transfer pricing audits to ensure that the tax result and/or the customs 
value of imported goods are not distorted by the effect of prices charged in dealings with related parties. It is likely 
that transfer price verifications will be carried out in the future by the tax authorities in order to determine whether 
these prices respect the "arm's length" principle and that the tax base of the Romanian taxpayer is not distorted. 
The company cannot quantify at the reporting date of the financial statements the result of such a verification. The 
company considers that transactions with related parties were carried out at market values. 

 

16. FUTURE EVENTS and BUSINESS CONTINUATION 

On 11 March 2020, the World Health Organization declared the coronavirus epidemic a pandemic and the 
President of Romania declared a state of emergency on 16 March 2020. In response to the potentially 
serious threat posed by COVID-19 to public health, the Romanian government authorities have taken 
measures to bring the epidemic under control, including the introduction of restrictions on the cross-border 
movement of people, restrictions on the entry of foreign visitors and the "blocking" of certain industries until 
further developments. Specifically, airlines have suspended the transport of people to and from countries 
affected by the COVID 19 crisis, and schools, universities, restaurants, cinemas, theatres, museums and 
sports facilities, shops except for food shops, grocery stores and pharmacies have been closed. In addition, 
major manufacturers in the car industry have decided to shut down operations both in Romania and in other 
European countries. Some companies in Romania have also asked their employees to stay at home and 
have reduced or temporarily suspended activity. 

The wider economic impact of these events includes: 
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• Disruption of business operations and economic activity in Romania, with a cascading effect on supply 
chains; 

• Significant disruptions of activity in certain sectors, both in Romania and in markets with a high 
dependence on a foreign supply chain, as well as disruption of export-oriented businesses that depend 
heavily on foreign markets. Sectors affected include trade and transport, travel and tourism, 
entertainment, manufacturing, construction, retail, insurance, education and the financial sector; 

• Significant decrease in demand for non-essential goods and services; 
• Increased economic uncertainty, reflected in increased volatility in asset prices and exchange rates. 

On 21 March 2020, an emergency government ordinance on certain economic and fiscal-budgetary 
measures to counteract the negative effects of the COVID -19 epidemic, especially on small and medium-
sized entities, entered into force.  

Regarding the activity of CONNECTIONS CONSULT S.R.L during this period, we mention that the 
Company's activity was not affected as the employees have related their work at work with COVID 19 
prevention and control measures starting from May 15, 2020. In terms of financial performance, in 2021, the 
turnover remained at a similar level to that recorded in 2020, varying marginally by -1%. This was due to the 
reorganisation of activities at Group level, as part of the software development activity was taken over by 
the affiliated company Connections Technologies S.A. Taking into account the forecasts highlighted in the 
Income and Expenditure Budget for 2022 regarding the turnover increasing to 59 million at group level, of 
which the largest share is attributable to the Company (about 38 million) , and the net profit for the group is 
estimated at 3.5 million, the management considers that these constitute solid premises in terms of 
managing economic activity in a period dominated by the economic crisis. Following the outbreak of the 
military conflict as of 24 February 2022 between Russia and Ukraine, the Company has taken into account 
the potential negative effect on its economic performance caused by it. Up to the time of this report, the 
Company's financial results have not been affected by the crisis caused by the war in Ukraine. Taking into 
account the changes in the structure of the main contributors to the Turnover in 2022, namely the increase 
in the share of revenues from software implementation at the expense of Service Delivery and the focus on 
large-scale projects whose main beneficiaries are state institutions, where there are dedicated funds already 
allocated for contracting IT solution providers, the Company's management believes that there are solid 
elements confirming an effective initiative in avoiding the occurrence of bottlenecks in economic activity. 

On March 23, 2022, the Extraordinary General Meeting of Shareholders of the company approved the 
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increase of the share capital of S.C. Connections Consult S.A. by the amount of 1,081,157 lei representing 
10,811,570 new shares with a nominal value of 0.1 lei/share through the partial use of share premiums for 
the benefit of shareholders. As a result of the increase, the value of the share capital expressed in lei 
becomes 1,189,272.70 lei and the total number of shares is 11,892,727. By carrying out this operation, the 
Company supports the shareholders by offering 10 shares for each share held free of charge and aims to 
liquidate on the stock exchange the transactions with the shares held by investors, creating opportunities 
for security holders to have flexibility in the choice of management strategies for the shares they hold in 
Connections Consult S.A. With regard to the impact of this operation on the Company's financial statements, 
it is important to note that the transaction in question has no equity effect and does not affect net assets, as 
the issue is essentially a partial distribution of the share premium in the share capital rewarding investors' 
confidence in the Company's performance. In management's opinion, the matters set out in the preceding 
paragraphs support the view that the Company will have sufficient resources to continue as a going concern 
for at least 12 months from the reporting date and that it will be able to effectively manage potential 
downturns due to the economic crisis caused by external factors. Management agrees that the range of 
possible outcomes considered in reaching this conclusion does not give rise to significant uncertainties 
related to events or conditions that could cast significant doubt on the Company's ability to continue as a 
going concern. 

ADMINISTRATOR,                                  DRAFTED, 

CONNECTIONS CONSULT S.A. S.A.              GLOBAL ACCOUNTING PROFESSIONAL  
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DECLARATIE 

in conformitate cu prevederile art.30 din Legea contabilitatii nr.82/1991 

S-au intocmit situatiile financiare anuale la 31/12/2021 pentru: 

______________________________________________________________________________ 

Entitate: CONNECTIONS CONSULT S.A. 

Judetul: SECTOR 1 

Adresa: STRADA BUZESTI NR. 75-77 

Numar din registrul comertului: J40/11864/2005 

Forma de proprietate: Societate pe Actiuni (S.A.) 

Activitatea preponderenta (cod si denumire clasa CAEN): 6202 ” Activități de consultanță în 
tehnologia informației “. 

Cod unic de inregistrare:  

______________________________________________________________________________ 

 

         Subsemnatii, Bogdan Livu Florea si Global Accounting Professional prin Mirel Lascu 
isi asuma raspunderea pentru intocmirea situatiilor financiare anuale la 31/12/2021 si confirma ca: 

 

        a) Politicile contabile utilizate la intocmirea situatiilor financiare anuale sunt in conformitate 
cu reglementarile contabile aplicabile. 

        b) Situatiile financiare anuale ofera o imagine fidela a pozitiei financiare, performantei 
financiare si a celorlalte informatii referitoare la activitatea desfasurata. 

        c) Societatea isi desfasoara activitatea in conditii de continuitate.  

           

Semnaturi, 

Mirel Lascu 

Bogdan Florea . 

 


